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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MEMBER REED: Good

          3  morning.  I apologize for the delay.  The Democratic

          4  Caucus of the Council has been meeting since 8:30

          5  this morning to try to look at the budget and the

          6  City's budget and find a response that allows

          7  middle-income and low-income people to survive in

          8  this City through this fiscal crisis, and we are

          9  mandated to respond to the Mayor's Preliminary

         10  Budget by the end of, I believe, of this week or the

         11  first of next week, and, so, we were in dialogue

         12  about our response and how we should try to act as

         13  appropriately as possible after the hearings we had

         14  last month examining agency by agency what the Mayor

         15  was putting forward.  So that next week we begin to

         16  have, or next month, in May, we begin to have a

         17  conversation about what is called the Executive

         18  Budget, or the final budget.  So we were not asleep

         19  this morning or got up late, we were trying to do

         20  the people's business in Caucus.  I apologize,

         21  nevertheless, for that.  I certainly appreciate,

         22  certainly, the Commissioner and others giving us

         23  this time.

         24                 My name is Phil Reed.  I am the Chair

         25  of the Consumer Affairs Committee.  I would like to
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          2  start by recognizing my colleagues on the Committee.

          3    To my left is John Liu from Queens, and Charles

          4  Barron from Brooklyn, and Joe Addabbo has just sat

          5  down, from Queens as well.  And nearest to my right

          6  is James Sanders, Jr., from Queens, and James Davis

          7  from Brooklyn, and Oliver Koppell from Brooklyn.  I

          8  think we have a full complement here today,

          9  terrific.

         10                 This morning we have two orders of

         11  business.  The first is a vote on Intro. 383- A,

         12  which means it has been amended. So you may want to

         13  take a look at that.  Relating to disclosure

         14  requirements for tax preparers who offer refund

         15  anticipation loans. We held an initial hearing on

         16  this topic on April 1, during which we received

         17  constructive testimony from the Administration, H&R

         18  Block and several advocates.  We have made a few

         19  amendments to proposition 383- A to incorporate

         20  those suggestions and will be voting on this bill

         21  today.  This legislation will require tax preparers

         22  to fully inform their clients on the elements of

         23  refund anticipation loans, including the interest

         24  rate of the loans, the full cost of the loans, and

         25  the time it will take to receive these loans
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          2  relative to other tax return options.  This

          3  disclosure must be made before the consumer agrees

          4  to enter into an RAL, and must be transaction

          5  specific.

          6                 Along with Council Member Reyna and

          7  other sponsors of this bill, I urge its passage.  I

          8  think this bill is a valuable first step in

          9  educating consumers of their rights.

         10                 Next, we will be turning to the

         11  primary purpose of this hearing, an inquiry into the

         12  licensing and regulatory hurdles facing general

         13  vendors throughout the City.  For the last several

         14  months, my colleagues and I have received a number

         15  of complaints from vendors who feel that the current

         16  regulatory system is inadequate.  Some complain that

         17  it is nearly impossible to get licenses, some feel

         18  that they should be afforded additional rights due

         19  to their wares they sell.  Some allege they are

         20  being harmed by the City's enforcement practices.

         21                 I have called this hearing so that we

         22  can better understand their complaints and begin to

         23  generate solutions.  We are especially eager to hear

         24  the Administrations ideas for addressing these

         25  concerns.  As background almost all general vendors,
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          2  those who sell goods or services other than food,

          3  must be licensed by the Department of Consumer

          4  Affairs.  Yet, under current legislation only 853

          5  general vendors may be licensed at one time.

          6  Obviously, this makes it very difficult to break

          7  into the vending business for newcomers.

          8                 There are also a number of wrinkles

          9  to consider when discussing vendor licensing.

         10  Vendors who fall into different categories, receive

         11  different legal treatment, and often have different

         12  needs.  For example, vendors who only sell printed

         13  material and artists, are not subject to licensing

         14  requirements. They have special First Amendment

         15  protection, though they may still subject to certain

         16  regulations.  In addition, veteran vendors must be

         17  licensed, but are not subject to the cap.

         18                 Until recently, State law provided

         19  some disabled veterans with special licenses to vend

         20  in areas that are usually off limits to general

         21  vendors.  You have to follow the ball here, Charles,

         22  okay?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  I am with

         24  you, I am with you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  This legislation
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          2  has expired and it is uncertain whether it will be

          3  revived.

          4                 Finally, vendors who sell crafts and

          5  certain religious items have pursued First Amendment

          6  protection but have been denied it to this point.

          7  To add fuel to the fire, almost all of these groups

          8  are confused and often frightened about the City's

          9  enforcement policies.  So as you can see it is a

         10  complex situation, one that we hope to understand

         11  more thoroughly after this hearing.

         12                 At the same time, there are some

         13  community groups around the City who have

         14  difficulties with vendors, arguing that they

         15  interfere with pedestrian traffic, conventional

         16  businesses, et cetera.  We will also be hearing them

         17  and having their point of view expressed.

         18                 We are not pretending that we will

         19  solve or even address all of the relevant issues

         20  this morning.  Unfortunately, we will be somewhat

         21  short on time; we have to leave this room by 12:40

         22  at the latest to allow our colleagues to have other

         23  hearings.  In terms of housekeeping, this means that

         24  I am limiting testimony to two minutes and we will

         25  try to hear from only on representative from every
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          2  group assembled.  Please try to find a way to

          3  condense your statements to allow as many witnesses

          4  as possible.  I would also ask my colleagues to

          5  condense their questions.

          6                 Because I know that we will not be

          7  able to hear everyone who would like to speak today,

          8  we have arranged for a second hearing on this topic

          9  for May 1st at 10:00 a.m.  We hope that anyone who

         10  was unable to testify this morning will return to

         11  our second hearing.  We are very interested in

         12  hearing everyone's point of view.

         13                 Before we delve into vending though,

         14  we are due to vote on this refund anticipation loan

         15  legislation.  And I had agreed to have someone from

         16  Jackson Hewitt's Office, had wanted to testify

         17  previously, to come forward.  So, yes, did you fill

         18  out one of these forms?  I am sorry, just give me a

         19  chance to figure this out, your name is?  We are

         20  looking through to get your forms, but good morning.

         21    Please, if you push the light that is on, if you

         22  push it in and the light is off, then the microphone

         23  is on.  Okay? So whoever is going to testify, please

         24  do that, and let us know who you are.

         25                 MR. SANTANA:  Good morning, Chairman
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          2  Reed, and members of Consumer Affairs Committee.  My

          3  name is Pedro Santana. I am a resident of Queens for

          4  29 years; I am owner of Jackson Hewitt Tax Service

          5  Franchises, which are located in Manhattan,

          6  Brooklyn, and in Queens.  Sitting next to me are my

          7  colleagues, Mr. Anthony McFaden, and Mr. Mandib Sabi

          8  (phonetic), which are also coal franchises and

          9  owners, individual owners.  We thank you for the

         10  opportunity to appear before your Committee on Bill

         11  No. 383- A, in particular, Chairman Reed, for

         12  allowing me the privilege of addressing this

         13  Committee this morning.

         14                 What I would like to say, please,

         15  excuse me I am a little nervous, but, Jackson Hewitt

         16  Tax Service is not a large corporation, it is

         17  comprised of independent owners and 100 percent of

         18  the franchisees here in the New York City area, and

         19  we have about 90 offices together are all minority

         20  owned and women- owned franchises.

         21                 As far as Bill 383- A is concerned,

         22  once we have become aware of the voting and what is

         23  going on, there on many points which we agree, as

         24  far as consumer protection.  But there is certain

         25  language in the bill, which is of concern to small
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          2  business owners like ourselves.  And trying not to

          3  talk too much into the many topics, but there are

          4  certain things, in particular, the penalties and the

          5  fact that we can be taken to court, not only

          6  ourselves, but the staff members can be taken to

          7  court by the consumer, is something that, you know,

          8  for a small business owner we need to, please, look

          9  a little bit more further into.  Because you know,

         10  for example, I have a young man who started working

         11  with us this year, out of the Brownsville community.

         12    This young man has developed extremely well, you

         13  know, he even thanked me for the opportunity that I

         14  have given him as far as employment is concerned.

         15  But if law is passed that he can be brought to

         16  charges because he has made a mistake, this would be

         17  someone as a staff member that I would certainly

         18  lose, and a young man who has developed well, will

         19  certainly lose an opportunity, you know, to keep

         20  progressing.  That is a point of view of myself.

         21                 What I would like to do is, in

         22  closing, is to humbly plead that the Committee of

         23  Consumer Affairs vote this bill down at its current

         24  form, if not, at least give us an extension of time

         25  where maybe we can sit down and more closely work
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          2  together as a group and develop a bill that would be

          3  protective to our consumer, your constituents, and

          4  at the same time protective to a small business

          5  owners like ourselves.  As one of my colleagues

          6  mentioned, our, you know, Jackson Hewitt Tax Service

          7  is not a large corporation with their main office

          8  1,500 miles away.  Your constituents, our consumers,

          9  our clients can come to us at our offices, and they

         10  know that they will be addressing their issues to

         11  the CEO, for lack of a better term, of the company.

         12  Because as a small businessmen, and we have a few

         13  others of our colleagues that have joined us for

         14  support, but as small businessmen that is what we

         15  are, the CEO, and our clients can certainly find

         16  very quickly.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Mr. Santana,

         18  thank you very much for your comments and your

         19  concerns about this bill.  When we decided to have

         20  the hearing on this bill we reached out to many

         21  people, and as Jackson Hewitt has acknowledged that

         22  the corporate level, they declined to come and

         23  testify.  In fact, the only people that came to

         24  testify was someone in the corporate offices of H&R

         25  Block, which we found unfortunate.  And it is good
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          2  to hear from people who actually do the tax

          3  preparation.

          4                 It is our understanding that while

          5  yes, it is the local offices who are, in fact, where

          6  if the complaint comes we would be investigating.

          7  It is my understanding that the corporation itself,

          8  would be responsible for this.  Frankly, when it all

          9  boils down, this bill, all it does is require you or

         10  any tax preparer, and of course, agencies like your

         11  own, I think are scrupulous and want to do the right

         12  thing.  All it does is require you to tell an

         13  individual what other options they have if they are

         14  trying to get money quickly, rather than wait three

         15  or four weeks, you say, borrow the money from us.

         16  The problem is the people end up borrowing money

         17  from you at what becomes an annual percentage rate

         18  of 500 percent.  Where if they were willing to wait

         19  10 days or two weeks, they would have the whole

         20  refund, and they also would not now have a loan to

         21  pay off that oftentimes they cannot pay off. So that

         22  is what the Council and the Administration is trying

         23  to address.  You just simply give somebody a piece

         24  of paper before they sign it, and say, I have read

         25  this.  If they still want to enter into it, that is
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          2  their business.

          3                 It is sort of like cigarettes, you

          4  know, it says right on the side of it, this sucker

          5  is going to kill you, but if you want to smoke it,

          6  knock yourself out.  So, all we are saying it, sign

          7  this.   You can get cheaper money elsewhere, but if

          8  you want it here, sign up, we will give it to you.

          9  It is not that complicated.

         10                 Chairman Reed, currently those laws

         11  are in place in each of our offices the client is

         12  informed of the different options.  They are also

         13  given a truth and lending form which they, it states

         14  each and every one of the cost involved, the APR

         15  involved, and they are asked to sign.  Nothing is

         16  consummated until they have this paperwork and is

         17  signed.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Then there should

         19  not be any problem with the bill.

         20                 MR. SANTANA:  In certain respect, no,

         21  Sir.  But once you start looking at the very stiff

         22  penalties, we do not have, we are not a corporation

         23  with deep pockets in most cases.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Unfortunately, Mr.

         25  Santana, the problem is that there are a lot of
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          2  unscrupulous people who prepare taxes and have

          3  arrangements with banks.  Banks think it is the

          4  greatest thing, so they go out and they find tax

          5  preparers and tell them to come to them, they will

          6  lend the people the money.  So H&R Block and

          7  certainly Jackson Hewitt, may not be the ones who we

          8  are aiming at.  But unfortunately the majority of

          9  people are going out there and finding themselves

         10  victims and are not aware of it.  That is what this

         11  bill is trying to address.

         12                 So it sounds to me that you guys

         13  already have the format, the program in place so

         14  that this does not occur.

         15                 MR. SANTANA:  We do, Sir.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  We are going to

         17  take two very quick questions.  Council Member

         18  Sanders, I would appreciate that we only speak on

         19  the issue of this resolution or this Intro.  We will

         20  certainly talk to you about the other, let you speak

         21  on that. But I want to try to get through this piece

         22  and move to vendors, if it is at all possible.

         23  Thank you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Absolutely,

         25  Mr. Chair.  Mr. Santana, other gentlemen, thank you
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          2  very much.  I hear what you are saying, and I have

          3  to first say that our Chair has always worked with

          4  folks.  I have to applaud him for this, and after we

          5  pass bills, he has shown that he is ready to work

          6  with people.  I believe that this still can happen.

          7  I do want to point out that this bill as it

          8  currently stands merely list what the consumer is

          9  receiving.  When you hear about single women who are

         10  barely making any money paying 500 to 800 percent

         11  interest, that, I mean, or poor people of any type

         12  for that matter, barely making any money in this

         13  City and paying between five and eight hundred

         14  percent interest, that really, really hurts.

         15                 I am going to speak to, my Chair does

         16  not know this, I am going to speak to the Speaker,

         17  and I tried to give us enough time to include some

         18  of your concerns.  It will be on the Speaker to make

         19  whatever he believes is right.  But I will certainly

         20  speak in terms of buying time, but I too believe

         21  that this bill needs to come forward.

         22                 But thank you very much.  Thank you.

         23                 MR. SANTANA:  If I may reply with all

         24  due respect? I have never seen a percentage in any

         25  of my clientele, with any of my offices of that
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          2  magnitude.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  The problem is,

          4  Sir, that when, because the way you give it out, it

          5  does not, it is not adjusted to the annual

          6  percentage rate.

          7                 MR. SANTANA:  No, we do that, Sir.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  But when you

          9  ratchet it up to what the annual percentage rate is,

         10  it gets into the many hundreds. Though the rate that

         11  the person signs up for, does not start out that

         12  way, but when you adjust it out, because the people

         13  typically do take at least a year to pay it out,

         14  that is, in fact, what the annual percentage becomes

         15  anywhere from three, four, five, six hundred

         16  percent.

         17                 I wanted to acknowledge Diana Reyna,

         18  one of the prime sponsors of this bill, not a member

         19  of the Committee, but always welcomed and had

         20  brought this forward.  I do not know if you have had

         21  any comments to make, I appreciate it if you could

         22  be brief, because we really do want to get to the

         23  main piece of business today.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Of course, Mr.

         25  Chair, thank you for indulging me.  I just wanted to
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          2  share with the Committee my appreciation on

          3  supporting this bill, and we will soon see, after

          4  the vote has been taken.  But I just wanted to make

          5  Mr. Santana and his colleagues aware, there is $1.75

          6  billion nationally that are supposed to go to the

          7  poorest of this country.  And unfortunately, that

          8  billion of dollars are not going toward their

          9  children's education or towards their household

         10  needs, for the simple reason that because you are

         11  targeting a very specific population.  Those people

         12  who are supposed to be taking advantage of the EITC,

         13  the Earned Income Tax Credit, are not, are being

         14  targeted in order to give them out of desperation

         15  money very quickly, and understand that they have

         16  needs, that need to be met at the end of the day

         17  quicker than most.  And that is, in my eyes, being

         18  taken advantage of, and we are putting a stop to

         19  that.  That is called predatory lending.  And this

         20  Council will not adhere or justify any means towards

         21  predatory lending.

         22                 Therefore, this bill is protecting

         23  New Yorkers as a whole, because we rank number one,

         24  nationwide, in predatory lending when it came to the

         25  EITC, Earned Income Tax Credit for specific working
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          2  poor class communities.  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you, Council

          4  Member Reyna. Council Member Liu, you have a brief

          5  comment?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  It will be

          7  brief, Mr. Chair, thank you very much for your

          8  indulgence.  I just want to thank Mr. Santana and

          9  his colleagues for joining us this morning.  And I

         10  want to ensure you that we are not in this Council,

         11  certainly, in this Committee trying to make it

         12  difficult for businesses and other enterprises,

         13  especially if they are owned and run by minorities

         14  and women.  Nonetheless, there are people being

         15  ripped off through this practice, and we are not in

         16  anyway saying that Jackson Hewitt or any particular

         17  firms are engaging in this practice.  But

         18  investigations have shown that people have been

         19  ripped off and ripped off unnecessarily so.   We are

         20  not saying that refund anticipation loans should be

         21  outlawed.  We are simply saying as the Chairman

         22  stated before, that people should be given full,

         23  complete accurate and proper information.  And we

         24  even make it simply in our bill, we say exactly what

         25  needs to be given to the consumer.  And that is all
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          2  we are asking for, and we hope that in the end, if

          3  and when this bill passes that you will support us

          4  in your practices as well.

          5                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  You are welcome,

          7  thank you. Council Member Koppell, please be mindful

          8  that we are trying to move forward.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I

         10  understand, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Chairman, I understand

         11  we want to move forward, but I am a strong supporter

         12  of this bill and of the idea behind this bill of

         13  full disclosure.  However, I am also in favor of

         14  full public discussion and learning of people's

         15  concerns and trying to respond to them.

         16                 The first hearing on this bill was

         17  last week, when we had the hearing on the bill last

         18  week, the Department of Consumer Affairs had some

         19  legitimate concerns and objections.  I note, Mr.

         20  Chairman and Counsel, that this new "A" draft does

         21  reflect some changes that they proposed, and it is

         22  better. However, it came out just this morning, I

         23  did not see it until just now.  It looks a lot

         24  better than what we had last week, but I have not

         25  even had time to read this carefully.  Furthermore,
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          2  the concern expressed by Mr. Santana is real.  This

          3  bill says, any person is liable, and that means that

          4  that person is liable for $250 to $500 fine for the

          5  first violation, and it does not say just the

          6  business is liable, which I think I would support,

          7  but it says person, and a person would include the

          8  individual tax preparer, many of those are young

          9  people or people inexperienced that can make a

         10  mistake, and I would frankly say that the business

         11  ought to be liable, not that individual preparer.

         12  But it is a matter to discuss, and what I am saying

         13  is, Mr. Chairman, that there has been no opportunity

         14  for any real input on this bill, on the "A" print of

         15  this bill, and there is no big rush here.

         16                 I know you say tax time is April

         17  15th, and if this would help people before April

         18  15th, maybe there would even be a purpose for it,

         19  although, it is kind of late, because most people

         20  have already taken care of their filing.  But even

         21  if it would help just a few people before April

         22  15th, but I look at the effective date of the bill,

         23  and it 60 days after it is enacted.  So if it passes

         24  on Wednesday, and let's assume even the Mayor signs

         25  it on Wednesday, it still is not going to take
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          2  effect until June.  So what is the rush, why not let

          3  these folks come in and negotiate? And I therefore,

          4  respectively ask you, Mr. Chairman, to put this over

          5  so that we can have a discussion, I am not

          6  suggesting any amendment at this point, I am

          7  suggesting that we give a chance to these people to

          8  come in and talk to Counsel and talk to you and talk

          9  to the members of the Committee, and I want to

         10  support this. I want to tell you, I am embarrassed

         11  because I indicated publicly that I support this,

         12  and I cannot support it under these circumstances,

         13  and I am embarrassed, because I think it is a

         14  terrific idea.  I think there are ripoffs out there

         15  that ought to be ended.  I think the disclosure, I

         16  quickly read the "A" print, but I ask you

         17  respectively, and I will stop now, I respectively

         18  ask you to put this over for a week, give them a

         19  chance to come in and put on the agenda in a week.

         20  And after they have had an opportunity to make their

         21  comments, I will vote for it.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you, your

         23  comment and your request is duly noted.  Seeing no

         24  other comments,  I would ask the clerk to call the

         25  role on 383- A.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Reed.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Aye.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Addabbo.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Barron.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Mr. Chair,

          8  can I be excused to explain my vote?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  I hear what

         11  Council Member Oliver Koppell is saying, but there

         12  was ample time for discussions, there was ample time

         13  for the company to come in and present these ideas,

         14  they refused to do that until now.  There are people

         15  who are getting ripped off in a wholesale way, and

         16  it may not be you, and these are very simple rules

         17  to comply by.  And no one is going to be that

         18  unprepared where they cannot get a person to sign

         19  something and read something before they arrange

         20  preparations for tax.  So if you are not involved in

         21  predatory lending, you should have no problems with

         22  this and no problems with compliance.  And I think

         23  even if we spent another year, the results would be

         24  the same, because we have to stop predators from

         25  ripping off our people. When people may be clapping
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          2  when you hear certain, but what you are not seeing

          3  is what is going on in our communities when these

          4  tax preparers come in here and rip us off, and we

          5  are not going to tolerate that.  And if you are not

          6  about that, you will have no problems with this

          7  bill.

          8                 And with that, I vote aye.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Davis.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Permission to

         11  explain my vote?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  I heard you

         14  loud and clear as well, I also heard Councilman

         15  Oliver Koppell.  And I was concerned about the young

         16  individual who gets a job, who may lose his job if

         17  does some of his paperwork wrong, because of this

         18  penalty $250 first time, $500.  And I want to say

         19  that as a Council member in this Council, we are

         20  committed, I think I can safely say to work with you

         21  to assist you in the preparing of that form, that

         22  much needed form that if there are any problems that

         23  we can help make it clear to all the potential

         24  individuals who come to your office, we want to work

         25  with you.  But I think this legislation is
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          2  important, and it is directly, it not towards you.

          3  But it is trying to bring about a transparency, it

          4  is trying to bring about protection for individuals.

          5

          6                 And unfortunately, you may be the

          7  victims of how others have treated people

          8  incorrectly, and we will, I will work closely with

          9  you to make sure that you do not become a victim of

         10  this.  But I think it is necessary legislation, so

         11  in order to protect and stop predatory lending from

         12  taken place in our communities, I would offer my

         13  service to help you make this absolutely clear to

         14  each individual, the transparency, the information

         15  is clear to them, the language is clear to them.  I

         16  think this is quality legislation, and I

         17  wholeheartedly support it, but I understand your

         18  position.

         19                 I vote aye.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Koppell.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Mr.

         22  Chairman, since I do not believe there has been time

         23  to consider this, I wonder if you would permit me to

         24  abstain?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Yes, you certainly
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          2  have that permission.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I abstain.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Liu.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Mr. Chair, may I

          6  have permission to explain my vote?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Yes, you may.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  I think that I

          9  agree with all the comments my colleagues have made

         10  so far.  I do not think that anybody is being

         11  victimized by this bill.   I think certainly the tax

         12  preparers are not being victimized, even the tax

         13  preparers who have been doing a good job and have

         14  been very forthright in their disclosures.  I do not

         15  think this is a real big deal, the wording is right

         16  here, it is very simple for you to instruct your

         17  professional staff, no matter how young or how

         18  inexperience they may be.  It is easy for them to

         19  hand this out.  So I would ask you to please do not

         20  take this as an affront on your profession, because

         21  that is certainly not what this Committee is

         22  intending upon sending.  I think that there is also

         23  something to be said for the people whose tax

         24  returns are being prepared.  I am assuming that all

         25  the conscientious companies will allow a person on
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          2  their staff who is professionally qualified to make

          3  those returns on behalf of those taxpayers.  And

          4  their are bound to be mistakes, no question about

          5  it, but it is incumbent upon the professionals, the

          6  partners and the companies to make sure that

          7  people's tax returns are being prepared accurately

          8  and completely, and this is just a small step in

          9  making sure that people understand the kinds of

         10  agreements and contracts they are entering into with

         11  regard to this refund anticipation loan.

         12                 Mr. Chair, I vote aye.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Sanders.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Mr. Chair,

         15  permission to explain my vote?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Mr. Santana

         18  and company, I believe that you have made some very,

         19  very interesting positions. I do wish that the

         20  corporate parent had come and had put some of these

         21  on the table before, you might, in fact, I can

         22  almost guarantee that would have gotten a different

         23  results.  I too am a touch worried about the penalty

         24  of the individual.  I would have preferred penalty

         25  to the corporation, and that would have perhaps done
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          2  the due diligence that we all need.  But with the

          3  same light that Council Member Barron spoke of, of

          4  just the overwhelming desire to protect the weakest

          5  financially among us from gouging, I too must vote

          6  aye.  I will speak to our Speaker and see what I can

          7  do to not have a vote until we can do some more

          8  tweaking of this.

          9                 I vote aye, Mr. Chair.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of six in

         11  the affirmative, 0 in the negative, with 1

         12  abstention, the item is adopted.  Council members,

         13  please, sign the Committee report.  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you all very

         15  much.  And Council members, we certainly take all

         16  your comments seriously and I appreciate it.

         17                 We want to move onto the subject of

         18  vendors.  Thank you also for coming and testifying.

         19                 Let me call the Administration up,

         20  and again, apologize for the delay.  I appreciate

         21  that you were here, but since this RAL was your

         22  bill, then you can see we were doing our work

         23  together.

         24                 As they prepare to testify, I just

         25  want to make a few comments, this year I have had
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          2  several people come to visit me, hardworking people,

          3  artists, vendors, and it has come to may attention,

          4  as I said in my opening remarks, that this is a very

          5  large complex issue with a lot of people feeling

          6  very much abused by the system.  Some people have

          7  implied concerns about how the laws are applied to

          8  people.  Some have suggested that race raises its

          9  ugly head from time to time in this.  The interest

         10  of big business as opposed to the small person.

         11  There have been all sorts of concerns, which is what

         12  has compelled us to, compelled me as the Chair, and

         13  our Committee in general to want to begin to have

         14  this hearing to sort of understand what are the

         15  issues and from all the different sides.

         16                 This is not, we have not made a

         17  decision about it, but we are certainly looking at

         18  it.  We have in the briefing paper for the Council

         19  members and we will have some copies, not enough for

         20  everybody, but we, because unfortunately, we thought

         21  we were going to have a visual aid, but something

         22  seems to not have worked, technology has not, is not

         23  perfect yet, just to list the number and kinds of

         24  vendors, vendors licenses, et cetera, et cetera,

         25  that are out here.
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          2                 Some people in official capacities

          3  have suggested to me that if they had their way,

          4  they would blow up the whole system and start all

          5  over again.  This is not the environment to be

          6  talking about blowing anything up.  So, but I agree

          7  that we should be really trying to say, this is

          8  broke, the system is broken, and it needs to be

          9  repaired and made fair.  And so that is what this

         10  process is hoping to begin to address today.

         11                 Let me tell you what we are not going

         12  to be talking about today.  We are not going to be

         13  talking about food vendors, that falls under the

         14  Health Committee and is really a separate issue,

         15  although, they are vendors, but in order to bring

         16  this into some boxes that we could pickup and move,

         17  we had to cut something out.  So if you are a

         18  health, a food vendor, your comments might be

         19  appreciated at another time, but we are not taking

         20  them today.

         21                 We are also not discussing Intro.

         22  160.  So if you have come to talk about 160, you

         23  should take a comfortable chair and listen, because

         24  we are not having testimony on that.  And if you try

         25  to sneak it in, and we will use this gavel, both
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          2  here and over there.

          3                 So having understood that, I also

          4  want to suggest, I know there is an awful lot of

          5  people in the gallery and here, we are glad that you

          6  are here.  We are going to try to move through this

          7  quickly, displays, outrage, clapping, booing is not

          8  going to be tolerated in here.  It is going to delay

          9  the process; people are trying to express honest

         10  opinions.  So let' try to respect that. We were

         11  discussing up here that probably four- fifths of the

         12  room is probably eligible for the Earned Income Tax

         13  Credit.  If there is anybody in here making a whole

         14  lot of money, would you raise your hand?  Oh, okay.

         15  So in other words, you should see the Department of

         16  Consumer Affairs, because they probably have flyers

         17  to tell you about getting money back from the

         18  government.  That is what we are trying to do is to

         19  get you money back from the government.  Okay?

         20                 Having said all of that, let me

         21  welcome, Commissioner of Consumer Affairs, Gretchen

         22  Dykstra.  Good morning.

         23                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA:  Good morning.

         24  Hi, thank you, Chairman, and your fellow colleagues.

         25    I am Gretchen Dykstra, Commissioner of the
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          2  Department of Consumer Affairs, and I am here today

          3  to start unpeeling the onion, which I bought you all

          4  party favors, I brought you onions because as we sit

          5  around and talk about this, that is the metaphor

          6  that comes to mind.  It is like unpeeling an onion

          7  and sometimes it makes you cry.

          8                 I would like to start by saying

          9  though, that this Committee's hearing was entitled,

         10   "The Problem With Vendors," and contrary to what a

         11  lot of people think, this Administration does not

         12  believe there is a problem with legal vendors.  We

         13  believe there is a serious problem with the very

         14  complicated set of regulations, and we believe there

         15  is a problem with the number of illegal vendors

         16  that, in fact, make legal vending very difficult and

         17  unfair to those people who are legal.

         18                 I wanted to start, and I know the

         19  Chairman has already done so, but I would like to

         20  review it just because we are here to talk about

         21  complexity.  So I would like to start by talking

         22  about who are we talking about, what is the universe

         23  of vendors?

         24                 When we talk about legal vendors, we

         25  are talking about general vendors regulated under
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          2  both state law and local law. We are talking about

          3  general vendors, who are, in fact, capped at 853.

          4  We are talking about veteran vendors that have no

          5  cap; currently there are 1,256 of them.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Have no what?

          7                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA:  There is no

          8  cap; there is no limit.  They pay no fee.  General

          9  vendors pay $200 a year for their annual fee.  In

         10  addition, there is a subset of the veteran vendors,

         11  they are the disabled vet vendors, and they

         12  themselves are divided into two groups.  They are

         13  what we call the blues, there are 60 of them, and

         14  they have rights to vend on some streets in Midtown,

         15  or at least they did, until March the first.  Then

         16  there is a group of disabled vet vendors that we

         17  refer to as the yellows, that refers to the color of

         18  their license.  There is no cap on them; they are

         19  currently 241.  They are allowed to vend everywhere

         20  in the City other than the Midtown core, or at least

         21  they could until March the first.  So that total

         22  number of general vendors is 2,410.

         23                 Then there are the first amendment

         24  vendors.  There is no license required, they

         25  obviously pay no fee, and they should not.  There is
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          2  no cap on them, of course, and their number is

          3  unknown.  It includes, and this is where this gets

          4  tricky, it includes sellers of books, sellers of

          5  printed matter, graphic artists, photographers,

          6  painters, print- makers and sellers of photography.

          7  It does not include makers of jewelry, craftspeople,

          8  leather goods, or religious objects.  That, because

          9  of a court case known as the Barry Decision.  Again,

         10  I am trying to underscore how all of this is

         11  determined by different sets of laws, different sets

         12  of rules, different state laws, different local

         13  laws, and the courts.

         14                 Even though the Council member is

         15  right to say that this Committee should not be

         16  looking at food vendors, when we talk about a

         17  comprehensive plan, we cannot leave food vendors

         18  out.  And there it gets complicated, because you

         19  have to have a permit for your cart.  And it

         20  differs; we have currently, 2,800 permits, two year

         21  permits that are capped.  But there are another set

         22  of permits, and this underscores an interesting

         23  issue, there are 50 permits for food carts that are

         24  earmarked for the outer boroughs, only for the outer

         25  boroughs.  That is so the outer boroughs could
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          2  benefit from some of the food vendors.  That is not

          3  part of the general license for carts.

          4                 There are 100 disabled vet vendors

          5  and disabled people who are allowed to get food

          6  vending permits; these are permits for the carts.

          7  There are another 1,000 permits for carts for

          8  seasonal food vendors, that is, ice cream and the

          9  like.  And then there aerosol 380, what are known as

         10  restricted permits for parks and private lots.  This

         11  totals 3,480, but that is for the carts.  The

         12  licensees to sell food add up to 9,193.  Their rules

         13  and regulations are different from the rules and

         14  regulations for general vendors, but they too can be

         15  on some of the same streets.

         16                 That is the universe of legals.  Then

         17  you have the illegal vendors.  In this group, we

         18  think of basically two kinds, two sets of people.

         19  There are those illegal vendors who we know have

         20  tried to get a cap.  We know they have tried to get

         21  licensed and they cannot because there is a cap on

         22  their number of 853, and they are not a vet, and

         23  they are not the disabled vets.  Then there are

         24  illegal vendors, who themselves, are selling illegal

         25  goods, and that includes people who are selling
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          2  trademark purses, CDs, DVDs, video tapes, movie and

          3  TV scripts, fake Rolodex watches.  Those are

          4  unlicensed vendors selling illegal goods.  And that

          5  is a whole other set of rules and regulations.

          6                 That is the universe we are talking

          7  about.  The last study that attempted to count the

          8  number of illegal vendors is outdated, it goes back

          9  to 1991, at that time, it was estimated there were

         10  approximately 10,000.  We cannot verify that number

         11  in any direction high or low.  That is the universe.

         12                 How does the City currently regulate

         13  these vendors? It is, in our opinion, a confusing

         14  hodge podge of a regulatory scheme developed

         15  incrementally over time that restricts vendoring but

         16  fails to manage vending.  We believe that there have

         17  been approximately 20 City Council laws passed over

         18  the last 20 years, that in fact, have added

         19  complexity onto this scheme. But let's divide it

         20  into three sections.

         21                 First, there was the cap.  That was

         22  an attempt to regulate the number of vendors by

         23  limiting the number of general vendors, that is the

         24  853.  That cap was set on September 1st, 1979, and

         25  the law says that however many general vendors there
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          2  were on September 1st, 1979 that would set the cap.

          3  And there were 853. Now in an interesting twist, I

          4  have been to every District Service Cabinet meeting

          5  in all the five boroughs, and in the Bronx, the

          6  major question was asking for that cap to be raised.

          7    They want one vendors in the Bronx.  I was on

          8  Indian television in Queens, and all of the

          9  questions I got that evening, well most of the

         10  questions I got were from Indian and Pakistanis

         11  asking to have that cap raised, saying they had

         12  needed and wanted to be a general licensed vendor.

         13                 But likewise, if you go to Jamaica,

         14  if you go to Flushing, if you go to Washington

         15  Heights, if you go to Midtown, if you go to Lower

         16  Manhattan, you here a very different call, which is,

         17  our streets are filled with vendors, there are too

         18  many of them.

         19                 So when we try to think of a

         20  comprehensive plan, and a Citywide plan, we have to

         21  be mindful of the fact that in some neighborhoods

         22  they would like more vendors both for consumers as

         23  well as the vendors, and in other neighborhoods, it

         24  is just the opposite.

         25                 In addition to capping the number of
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          2  general vendors, there are street restrictions.

          3  This means that the City has set time and place

          4  restrictions that ban some vendors on certain

          5  streets at certain times, and on some streets ban

          6  vending all the time.  We brought with us an

          7  example, and I am sorry you cannot see it, but City

          8  Council members you have on the back of your fact

          9  sheet, we have brought it with us, just one page of

         10  what I think are 55 pages of restrictions.  This

         11  shows the restrictions on 41st Street through 46th

         12  Street.  You will see different restrictions, and

         13  this is only for general vendors.  Yes, that is it

         14  the last page, and you will see that it is a hodge

         15  podge, crazy quilt of restrictions.

         16                 Some food vendors are banned at

         17  specific times on streets by local law.  Some food

         18  vendors along with general vendors are banned at

         19  specific on specific streets designated by the once

         20  active Street Vendors Review Panel that did not act

         21  with the benefit of articulated standards.  Some

         22  general vendors are barred all the time from

         23  commercial districts 4, 5, and 6.  I challenge

         24  anybody in this room to know how to identify C- 4,

         25  C- 5, and C- 6 districts without looking at the land
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          2  use maps, let alone people who are having to follow

          3  this.

          4                 First Amendment vendors are banned

          5  from any street barred to both general vendors by

          6  rule, and food vendors by rule and local law.  Until

          7  March the first, according to a state law, which is

          8  now expired, 60 disabled vet vendors, the blues,

          9  were able to vend on certain streets in Midtown and

         10  disabled vet vendors, the yellows, were allowed to

         11  vend elsewhere in the City.  This law restricted one

         12  disabled vet vendors per block face.  With the

         13  sunset of that law, now any disabled vet vendor can

         14  vend on any street regardless of local street

         15  restrictions.  And the law has said that First

         16  Amendment vendors with no limit on their number, can

         17  locate on any street where a disabled vet vendors

         18  with any specialized license blue or yellow is

         19  present.

         20                 That is how the City over time and

         21  the State has tried to restrict it or regulate it

         22  through street restrictions.

         23                 Then there are site restrictions.

         24  There are a whole slew of rules different in some

         25  cases for food and general vendors, about setting
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          2  minimum distances that vendors must maintain from

          3  designated objects or locations.  For instance,

          4  general vendors must be 10 feet from the corner,

          5  from the subway.  Five feet from a public phone, 10

          6  feet from any entrance to any building.  Food

          7  vendors have slightly different restrictions, and at

          8  the moment, disabled vet vendors have not site

          9  restrictions.

         10                 So what does this all add up to?  It

         11  means all or nothing depending on the time of day,

         12  which means total congestion on some streets due to

         13  both restrictions on the legals and the illegals,

         14  and the lack of restrictions on the First

         15  Amendments, and then efforts by those streets that

         16  are so congested to restrict all vendors on those

         17  particular crowded streets, which ends up pushing

         18  them onto other streets.

         19                 And ironically, since the State law

         20  on disabled vet vendors, which I would like to say

         21  was written right after the Civil War, the disabled

         22  vet vendors have been protected by State law since

         23  1866.  There, the State Law on disabled vet vendors

         24  trumps the local law.  Even these restricted streets

         25  can be opened to disabled vet vendors, which then
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          2  brings unlimited First Amendment vendors, and denies

          3  them, the disabled vet vendors the exclusivity that

          4  the historic law tried to imposed.

          5                 So where do we go from here?  I know

          6  you will have many questions, I know that there is

          7  the belief that the City has a plan.  The City has

          8  no plan.  What we have done is talked to scores of

          9  people.  I have talked to many of you, many of the

         10  Council members, I have talked to the disabled vet

         11  vendors, I have talked to food vendors, First

         12  Amendment vendors, illegal vendors, artists vendors

         13  that are not protected by the First Amendment, I

         14  have talked to all the District Service Cabinets, I

         15  have talked to lawyers, I have talked to union reps,

         16  I have talked to Veteran Affairs, State Legislators,

         17  leaders in all of the groups and bid managers.

         18  Everybody has ideas for one piece of it.  What we

         19  need, is we need to protect the legal vendors, we

         20  need to make the scheme simple, fair, and

         21  enforceable.  We need to make it Citywide; we need

         22  to make it comprehensive.  It is broken, we need to

         23  fix it, and I believe we need to think about

         24  starting over, but we need a lot of good heads to

         25  figure this out.
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          2                 Thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

          4  much, Commissioner, for that, I want to call it

          5  informative, but somehow the word confusing, as

          6  well, because I think that you have informed us that

          7  it is confusing.

          8                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA:  You have it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Right, exactly.

         10  Next, we are going to hear from Robert Hettleman, is

         11  that correct?  Please introduce yourself, turn the

         12  mic on and introduce yourself, Sir.

         13                 MR. HETTLEMAN:  Good morning.  My

         14  name is Robert Hettleman, and I am the Legislative

         15  Counsel to the Criminal Justice Coordinator, John

         16  Feinblatt.  Mr. Feinblatt is out of the office due

         17  to the birth of his first child, so I am sure you

         18  can appreciate why he is unable to be here today.

         19  Thank you for the opportunity to testify before you

         20  today, on this issue of street vending.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Excuse me, Mr.

         22  Hettleman, did you provide us with testimony?

         23                 MR. HETTLEMAN:  We did.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay, I have just

         25  got a lot of papers in front of me.  Please
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          2  continue.

          3                 MR. HETTLEMAN:  I do not have any

          4  props, but nonetheless, as Commissioner Gretchen

          5  Dykstra has explained, the rules and regulations

          6  governing street vending are complicated, confusing

          7  and often conflicting.  But enforcement of this

          8  system is very important.  The vending laws are

          9  designed to ensure public safety and protect

         10  pedestrians on our bustling and congested sidewalks.

         11    They are also designed to protect small businesses

         12  and hardworking legitimate vendors from unfair

         13  competition.  They are designed to assure adequate

         14  health standards in the sale of food and beverages,

         15  and they are designed to present a sense of order

         16  and control in the City's busiest commercial areas.

         17                 But as they are currently written,

         18  these laws serve very few of these important shared

         19  interest that we have.  The rules and regulations

         20  are needlessly confusing for vendors and business

         21  people.  The complexity of these rules makes it

         22  extraordinarily difficult for the police to

         23  enforced, the rules do very little to eliminate

         24  sidewalk and street congestion.  Under this scheme,

         25  legitimate vendors and business people are not
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          2  protected from competition from unlicensed and

          3  illegal vendors. And the worst offenders, people who

          4  violate these rules escape meaningful sanctions.

          5                 Let me first describe to you how

          6  enforcement is done on the streets where vending

          7  does occur.  The burden of enforcing vending rules

          8  and regulations falls cheaply on the New York City

          9  Police Department.  All NYPD officers receive

         10  training on the vending rules and enforcement

         11  procedures.  They receive additional training and

         12  regular updates at precinct roll calls and at

         13  meetings.  Also, throughout the City some specially

         14  trained officers, who have expertise in the vending

         15  law, provide focused enforcement.  Indeed, the NYPD

         16  regularly seeks public comment about vending

         17  conditions at Community Board Meetings, Neighborhood

         18  Precinct Councils, and from business and residential

         19  community members.

         20                 In addition, the Office of Midtown

         21  Enforcement does vending enforcement in the midtown

         22  area, as well as inspections of the commissaries and

         23  warehouses from which the vendors are supplied.  The

         24  Department of Consumer Affairs, the Department of

         25  Health, the Department of Sanitation, are also
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          2  charged with enforcing vending rules.   Taken

          3  together, the City invests considerable resources in

          4  enforcing all of the street vending regulations.

          5                 So what are the problems on the

          6  street?  Well as Gretchen Dykstra had just described

          7  for you, the regulations and restrictions on vending

          8  are voluminous and they are very confusing. When a

          9  police officer walks onto a street and sees vending

         10  going on, that officer has to fight through a maze

         11  of rules and regulations to determine what is going

         12  on and whether or not the vending is in compliance.

         13  The officers have to ask himself or herself:

         14                 Is a particular vendors, and this

         15  could be a vendors selling handbags, donuts, compact

         16  discs, or his/her own photographs, whatever it may

         17  be, is that vendor regulated under the City law or

         18  is it under the State law?

         19                 Is that particular street where the

         20  vending is going on even open to vending or is all

         21  vending prohibited on that street?

         22                 Is this particular vendor present at

         23  the right time of day and the right time of the

         24  week?

         25                 Is the person even licensed?
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          2                 Is the person a veteran?

          3                 Is a person a disabled veteran

          4  vendors?

          5                 If it is a veteran, does the person

          6  have the yellow license, the blue license, or the

          7  regular white license?

          8                 If more than one vet is present

          9  vending, which one has a higher priority number,

         10  because that is included in the law?

         11                 And if it is a food vendor, does this

         12  person have the necessary permits that they also

         13  need from the Department of Health and the Fire

         14  Department?

         15                 We ask police officers to take prompt

         16  action when laws are broken, and when unsafe

         17  conditions are present.  But forced to consult these

         18  voluminous and contradictory laws and regulations,

         19  police officers are unable to do so effectively in

         20  the vending scheme.

         21                 Now let me take just one moment to

         22  discuss a legal issue that further complicates this

         23  entire scheme of regulation, and that is the issue

         24  of First Amendment vendors, vendors who sell written

         25  matter, art, and other material protected by the
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          2  First Amendment.  Constitutional law as defined by

          3  our Supreme Court of the United States is clear.

          4  The government cannot impinge on a person's right to

          5  express himself or herself without a powerful reason

          6  and a narrowly tailored method of doing so.  Courts

          7  have repeatedly struck down attempts by New York

          8  City and other cities to require licenses and to

          9  impose certain other limitations on First Amendment

         10  vendors.  Because of the deference which must be

         11  given to First Amendment vendors, the New York City

         12  Administrative Code states that whenever a food or

         13  general vendors is allowed to vendors on a street,

         14  First Amendment vendors must also be allowed to

         15  vendors on the street.  In other words, if no

         16  vending at all is permitted on a particular street

         17  due to safety or regulatory concerns, than the

         18  City's demonstrated interest is strong enough to

         19  prohibit these First Amendment vendors.  But on the

         20  other hand, if a food or general vendors is

         21  permitted on a street, even one is permitted on a

         22  street, than First Amendment vendors must be given a

         23  comparable right and a free to come to that street

         24  as well.

         25                 Take note, some streets are
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          2  restricted from vending by the City law, but the

          3  superseding state law permits one disabled veteran

          4  vendor to vend on that same street.  Because the one

          5  vendors is allowed by the state law First Amendment

          6  vendors can come to that same street too.  This

          7  hurts those very disabled veteran vendors and their

          8  ability to vend exclusively on certain blocks.  This

          9  hurts enforcement, a police officer checks and sees

         10  that the street is restricted by the city law, but

         11  permitted by the state law, and then he has to

         12  determine among the numerous vendors on the street

         13  who is who and who is legal.  And this also

         14  endangers pedestrians.  A block that was supposed to

         15  be restricted by city law because of the unsafe

         16  congestion, is now over run with vendors, forcing

         17  people to walk onto crowded avenues and into

         18  traffic.

         19                 First Amendment issues only make the

         20  regulations more confusing and complicated.  With

         21  this crazy quilt of rules to enforced, even the best

         22  trained police officer would need to carry in

         23  his/her pocket a manual the size of Webster's

         24  Dictionary.  You can take a look at the one- page we

         25  have here, and as Gretchen Dykstra mentioned, that
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          2  is one of many, many pages.  At the same time, the

          3  police are expected to respond to community

          4  complaints about vending, disputes between vendors

          5  and consumers, and even fights between vendors and

          6  other vendors.  Plainly, the complexity of the

          7  vending system makes enforcement monumentally

          8  difficult.

          9                 Let me turn now to what happens when

         10  we do identify that someone is not following the

         11  vending rules?  Unfortunately, the adjudication side

         12  of the story is even more complicated and chaotic.

         13  The way the law is currently written, street vending

         14  violations are both criminal and civil offenses.  As

         15  a consequence, the law allows both criminal and

         16  civil penalties.  Generally, violators are given a

         17  summons returnable to the Environmental Control

         18  Board ("ECB") or they can be given a summons to the

         19  Summons Appearance Part of the Criminal Court.

         20  Also, the City is authorized to seize the goods

         21  being sold by vendors who violate certain provisions

         22  of the law.  Now for unlicensed general vendors, the

         23  police are authorized to arrest them and bring them

         24  before the Criminal Court.  This is because

         25  unlicensed general vending is a misdemeanor crime.
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          2  For these arrests, for unlicensed general vending,

          3  the law allows civil forfeiture of the merchandise

          4  because it is used as implements of committing that

          5  crime.

          6                 Now due to the complexities that we

          7  have described, none of the three adjudication

          8  venues is very effective.  In 2001, there were over

          9  59,000 vending- related cases in New York City;

         10  about 43,000 were returnable to the ECB; 8.600 went

         11  to the Summons Appearance Part; and 7,500 arrests

         12  were made that went to Criminal Court.  At the

         13  Environmental Control Board, 71 percent of vending

         14  related defendants did not even appear to answer

         15  their summonses. At the Summons Appearance Part, the

         16  no- show rate was 49 percent, and even when an

         17  accused did show up to these two venues, the case

         18  against him or her were usually dismissed.  Forty-

         19  five percent of ECB cases were dismissed, even when

         20  the vendor showed up.  And in the Summons Appearance

         21  Part, it was 69 percent that get dismissed.

         22                 Now some of these dismissals are on

         23  the merits of the issue, meaning the judge or the

         24  finder of fact was not convinced of the accused

         25  guilt.  However, a great many of these dismissals
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          2  come from the confusing rules themselves.  Sometimes

          3  an officer might cite the wrong technical section on

          4  the summons, or sometimes the judges, themselves, do

          5  not understand the rules well enough to make an

          6  informed decision.  Be aware that there are no

          7  prosecutors or attorneys to argue on behalf of the

          8  City's case, so these cases get dismissed routinely.

          9                 Now let me turn to what happens when

         10  somebody actually is found guilty of committing a

         11  violation or a crime.  The ECB is authorized to

         12  imposed fines on vendors.  The Summons Appearance

         13  part in Criminal Court, because they are Criminal

         14  Courts they are authorized to impose fines,

         15  community service, and jail time.  But because of

         16  the way this system is structured, none of these

         17  courts are able to imposed escalating penalties on

         18  repeated offenders.  So none of the sanctions that

         19  we currently use to enforced this scheme, none of

         20  them have any teeth at all.  Small fines are the

         21  norm at the ECB, and vendors usually treat these

         22  fines as a simple small cost of doing business.

         23                 Importantly, none of these sanctions

         24  I have described are actually tied to the vendors'

         25  license itself.  For licensed vendors, people who do
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          2  have legal licenses, the law permits our City

          3  agencies to suspend and revoke the licenses, but

          4  this very rarely occurs.  The information sharing

          5  between the ECB and the Department of Consumer

          6  Affairs is limited.  Sanctions from the Summons

          7  Appearance Part and Criminal Court do not translate

          8  into actions against the license.  And that is

          9  because the usual outcome in the Criminal or Summons

         10  Appearance Court is what is called an Adjournment in

         11  Contemplation of Dismissal, an ACD, or a pleas to

         12  violation known as Disorderly Conduct.  While

         13  licensing agencies can only take action against the

         14  license for violations related to that licensed.  An

         15  ACD and Disorderly Conduct has nothing to do with

         16  vending, so the agency cannot use those

         17  adjudications in a licensing proceeding that they

         18  are conducting.

         19                 So even when a licensed vendor

         20  commits repeated violations, the penalties do not

         21  escalate.  When it is time to renew the license, the

         22  Department of Consumer Affairs rarely has the

         23  information necessary to determine if the

         24  application should be looked at more closely.  In

         25  fact, even when a licensed vendor fails to show up
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          2  at the ECB, and the ECB will impose the default

          3  largest judgement, when a vendor does come to clear

          4  up his license and goes to the ECB, the ECB will

          5  often enter into a settlement with this person for a

          6  lesser amount of fine.

          7                 And these adjudication problems I

          8  have just described only relate to the legal

          9  vendors.  Unlicensed vendors are an even greater

         10  problem.  Unlicensed vendors do not pay taxes, they

         11  provide illegal competition to the hardworking

         12  vendors who have paid for their license and follow

         13  the rules.  Unlicensed vendors often rip off

         14  consumers and they leave a bad taste in the mouth of

         15  business people and tourists.  And since they are

         16  not licensed, they cannot be tracked down in the

         17  event that a problem does arise.

         18                 Unlicensed vending is a misdemeanor,

         19  a crime that is punishable by jail.  Yet, illegal

         20  vendors are free to offend and offend with impunity,

         21  because they are not fingerprinted for their

         22  offenses.  In almost all cases, when someone commits

         23  a crime and is arrested, the person is

         24  fingerprinted, and this is so that the police, the

         25  prosecutors, the defense attorneys and the judges
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          2  can know the offender's record.  So that they can

          3  know how to adequately treat a case.  So that they

          4  can know how to escalate the sanction with each new

          5  offense.  Without fingerprinting, we cannot

          6  determine if it is someone's first offense or if it

          7  is the person's 20th offense.  We do not even know

          8  if the person has a history of other criminal

          9  convictions, and we do not even know if this person

         10  is wanted by the Criminal Justice System for having

         11  absconded form some other charge or penalty.  So

         12  when a judge gets an unlicensed vending case in

         13  court, every single time it is treated like a first

         14  arrest, every single time.  Without fingerprinting

         15  of these vendors, we take away the Criminal Justice

         16  System's main tool for imposing meaningful

         17  penalties.

         18                 Roughly 17,000 unlicensed general

         19  vendors were summonsed or arrested in 2001.  At the

         20  ECB and Summons Appearance Part, I have already

         21  described that the vast majority never shows up.

         22  But even in Criminal Court, where defendants have

         23  been arrested and brought to court, 42 percent  of

         24  these cases result in a walk.  The defendant

         25  receives no sanction other than the time he or she
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          2  served while waiting for arraignment.  Fifty percent

          3  of these offenders receive community service; 9

          4  percent receive a short jail sentence, and 2 percent

          5  receive a fine.  First arrest of 50th arrest, the

          6  illegal vendors are back on the street the same day

          7  or the very next day.  Ask any police officer, ask

          8  any local merchant or business person, ask any legal

          9  vendors, the same unlicensed vendors are always back

         10  on the street.

         11                 So we do agree, a solution to these

         12  problems is needed.  The Department of Consumer

         13  Affairs, the Police Department, the Department of

         14  Health, the Law Department, and the Office of the

         15  Criminal Justice Coordinator have been closely

         16  studying and continue to study these issues.  We

         17  believe that a better system is possible, the rules

         18  must be made simple, fair and consistent.  We have

         19  to give the City agencies the tools they need to

         20  protect the public safety, and to protect legitimate

         21  businesses.  And we must construct a system where

         22  persistent offenders receive meaningful sanctions.

         23                 I thank you for the opportunity to

         24  address you on these topics, and we are glad to take

         25  any questions that you have.

                                                            56

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you, Mr.

          3  Hettleman.  You were saying that you all are working

          4  to find a solution many of the different City

          5  agencies.  Have you had an opportunity to engage any

          6  of the vendors or their representatives in these

          7  informal dialogue?

          8                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA:  Yes, I will

          9  take that.  I thought I had gone through the list,

         10  but I will go through it again.  We have met and

         11  repeatedly meet with groups of the disabled vet

         12  vendors, we have met - -

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay, I am sorry,

         14  Commissioner, I did not, I was asking him, but you

         15  are answering for him.  So that list that you gave

         16  us is a part of this informal Task Force that he is

         17  referring to?

         18                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA:  Yes, we meet

         19  together.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  With that group?

         21                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA:  Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  In his list, it is

         23  not there, so I appreciate that.  I am going to ask

         24  my colleagues to, the Chair is going to limit, is

         25  actually not going to ask any questions, imagine
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          2  that at the moment.  And I am going to ask my

          3  colleagues to limit these to two questions a piece

          4  for this particular panel.

          5                 The only comment that I would make,

          6  which is not a question, is that all of these people

          7  are also people who have testified, the Commissioner

          8  and Mr. Hettleman about the concern that we also

          9  have for illegal vendors.  And I stressed this

         10  morning that the reason we started late, because the

         11  Democratic Caucus is downstairs trying to figure out

         12  how we should pay for schools, keep the hospitals

         13  open, many of the vendors probably do not have

         14  proper health care, and rely on the public health

         15  system, or the dental clinics or your families.  We

         16  do not have money for child care; we do not have

         17  money for seniors.  It is estimated that with the

         18  illegal vending, that we in the City are losing

         19  about $1 billion a year in money that we should get

         20  through taxes and licensing.  So in the environment

         21  that we are trying to figure out how to keep basic

         22  services open, none of us are very sympathetic to

         23  illegal businesses that are not paying their fair

         24  share/

         25                 So I also want to put this in some
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          2  perspective.  I think all of us, and certainly this

          3  Chair, things that vending is an honorable

          4  profession, and one to be respected and it has a

          5  long history in this City.  So nobody wants to

          6  penalize those people who are trying to do it right.

          7    It is almost impossible, from what I have heard,

          8  for you guys and women to do it right.  But then, on

          9  top of it, you have got these people who do not give

         10  a damn, right or wrong, they are going to do it and

         11  walk away with our tax dollars.  That is going to

         12  stop.

         13                 Council Members Sanders, Barron,

         14  Davis, in that order.  I guess Mr. Barron has been

         15  able to trump Brother Sanders here today, because he

         16  is sitting closer to me, so we are going to let him

         17  ask his two questions.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Thank you,

         19  Mr. Chairman and thank you, Mr. Sanders for allowing

         20  me, I do have to run to a Brooklyn delegation

         21  meeting that we are having around funding programs

         22  in Brooklyn, so I want to get to that, Mr. Chairman,

         23  thank you.  And then James you should mention that.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  You are going to

         25  leave James, and you are going to take his money
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          2  when you do that?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  I am going to

          4  look out for James when he is asking his questions.

          5                 All right, I just want to say that I

          6  appreciate the testimony and I appreciate the

          7  presence of the vendors.  You know this vending

          8  problem has been with us for a little while, but was

          9  highlighted during the Giuliani Administration.  And

         10  Rudolph Giuliani, in my opinion, in a very mean-

         11  spirited way, with a race based, class- based

         12  prospective created much more of a problem than we

         13  need to be having right now.  And I just wanted, I

         14  am sure that Mr. Giuliani wants to be properly noted

         15  in history, so I did not want him to miss his

         16  chance, his opportunity.

         17                 I am concerned, you know when I

         18  listen to the testimony, I am very concerned on the

         19  enforcement side what we hear from vendors, is

         20  harassment, is a constant harassment, and not even,

         21  and I have seen it myself, a police officer not even

         22  courteous when they approach vendors, because they

         23  have a certain perspective.

         24                 So let me ask my question, wouldn't

         25  it be better since we have so many unlicensed
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          2  vendors who we are not, the City is not applying,

          3  supplying employment for, and since they have

          4  decided to employ themselves, which I think is a

          5  noble thing, why not lift the cap?  Why not lift the

          6  cap on the general vendors, lift the cap, and let's

          7  come back and figure out, like we did on the

          8  sidewalk cafes to streamline the regulation process.

          9    So my first question is why not lift the cap?

         10                 And my second question for those

         11  vendors who have to renew their license, why do they

         12  have to wait six to eight weeks? They still have to

         13  make a living in the process of getting license

         14  renewed, some have complained that they have to wait

         15  six to eight weeks to get their licensed renewed.

         16  We have heard those complaints, these are complaints

         17  we have heard, and they still have families to feed

         18  while they are waiting to get their license renewed.

         19    So those are the two questions that I have, Mr.

         20  Chair.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.

         22                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA:  Well let me

         23  take the last one first, if anybody has that kind of

         24  complaint they should call me or Alba Peko, because

         25  we like to pride ourselves in moving things quickly.
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          2    It was my understanding, but I need to check this,

          3  that if you have a license and it needs to be

          4  renewed, and there is a waiting period, you can

          5  license, you can vend while you are waiting for the

          6  renewal.  We have dates to renew the license.

          7                 But if, in any case, I make an offer,

          8  call Alba Peko or me if a license vendor at time of

          9  renewal meets with that kind of a problem.

         10                 As for lifting the cap - -

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Excuse me,

         12  Commissioner, could you give us the phone numbers?

         13                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA:  Yes, 487-

         14  4401, that is my telephone number.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  212- 487-

         16                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA:  4401

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  4401.

         18                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA:  And ask to

         19  speak to Alba Peko or me.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Alba Peko.  Okay?

         21                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA:  I think most

         22  people in this room know Alba.

         23                 As for the question about lifting the

         24  cap, it is one of the things that we have been

         25  looking at.  And how far you lift it, is it an
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          2  unlimited lift, do you double it, how many vendors,

          3  where do they go?  I would like to cite back to that

          4  thing we actually have food vendors whose licenses

          5  are designated for particular boroughs.  Because one

          6  of the problems is that there are some neighborhoods

          7  in the outer boroughs where vending is, in fact,

          8  profitable, but there are many that are not.  And so

          9  you want to make sure that that goes back to the

         10  balancing, you do not want all the vendors to be

         11  competing for a handful of streets in Midtown, you

         12  want to be able to spread them around.  It is one of

         13  the things we are looking at.

         14                 I would say though, that if we, in

         15  fact, did raise the cap, we should also consider

         16  fingerprinting for the people who continue to be

         17  illegal.  Because remember, not all of the illegal

         18  vendors, we have reason to believe, want to be

         19  licensed, because they are selling illegal goods.

         20  So we still have a problem with the illegals.

         21                 But I think raising the cap, if we

         22  could do it in such a way that does not further

         23  burden, and I hope you are going to hear today from

         24  some of the small business people.  You know, you

         25  talk to a guy who has a deli, he has very different
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          2  attitude if there are four vendors outside his

          3  store.  So it is all a balancing act.

          4                 But I think raising the cap is a

          5  perfectly reasonable suggestion.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.  Before

          7  I call on Council Member Sanders, I just everybody

          8  to turn around and to welcome our students here

          9  today from, just give me a minute here, I know you

         10  all go to school, The Children's Workshop School on

         11  East 12th Street.  They are here with their two

         12  teachers.  And we do this every day, guys, you can

         13  come, we have a full house every day. But welcome,

         14  this is democracy about your city and definitely

         15  about your future.  So I think we can do a better

         16  job of giving them a welcome here, right?

         17                 Thank you.  Council Member Sanders.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Sir, I

         19  respectively yield, no I insist that my Brooklyn

         20  colleague, James Davis speak first.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Council Member

         22  Davis, thank you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Thank you,

         24  Council Member Sanders.  All right, very quickly,

         25  let me first of all commend, Commissioner Dykstra
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          2  for your honesty, I think that goes a long way, and

          3  that is the first step.  As a retired police officer

          4  who has only been in the City Council for 15 months

          5  now, who has had the good fortune of being a police

          6  officer, standing roll call. And page 2 of your

          7  testimony, Mr. Robert Hettleman, stated that NYPD

          8  officers receive training on the vending rules and

          9  enforcement procedures, they receive additional

         10  training on regular updates at precinct roll calls

         11  and meetings.  I am going ask first, is there any

         12  oversight that you had monitored to make sure that

         13  NYPD is actually going over these procedures during

         14  roll cal?

         15                 MR. HETTLEMAN:  At all of the

         16  meetings that we have described, that Commissioner

         17  Dykstra has described, the Police Department is

         18  always a vital presence at those meetings.  And we

         19  have regular updates with Police Captains, with

         20  Lieutenants, individuals who supervise the

         21  particular units that deal with vending issues.  A

         22  great example is the law that did sunset, the state

         23  law that did sunset at the beginning of March.  We

         24  had to have meetings to discuss how that would

         25  impact on enforcement at the local level by police
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          2  officers, so we got together, some directives were

          3  issued.  The Criminal Justice Coordinator's Office

          4  did review those, as did the people from the other

          5  agencies.  So, yes, there is some oversight.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  As a member of

          7  the Public Safety Committee, I would also encourage

          8  that this issue also be brought up before the Public

          9  Safety Committee, chaired by Peter Vallone, Jr., to

         10  do a joint hearing, if you will, with Chairman Reed.

         11

         12                 As a police officer, a retired cop, I

         13  am here to state and make very, very clear, and I

         14  understand that you have had your meetings, that

         15  that message is not being trickled down to the

         16  officers on patrol, and I am here to make it very

         17  clear that as I have continued to fight with the

         18  Police Department from within and now as a member of

         19  the Public Safety Committee from without, precinct

         20  level training in NYPD stinks when it comes to

         21  suicide prevention, alcoholism, and vendors rights

         22  We have to make sure that the message is trickled

         23  down to the officer on patrol.

         24                 Because based on your testimony here

         25  with the dictionary type rules and regulations, the
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          2  officer on patrol, and oftentimes, he or she do not

          3  have a clue.  So it is not necessarily the officer,

          4  it is the policy and the oversight in making sure

          5  that the message gets from the top to the bottom

          6  within the Police Department.

          7                 Thank you, Commissioner Dykstra and

          8  thank you, Mr. Hettleman.  We have to make sure that

          9  there is better oversight to make sure that the

         10  officer on patrol receives the message.

         11                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you much,

         13  Councilman Davis. Council Member Sanders.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Thank you,

         15  Mr. Chair. Although, I understand you metaphor of

         16  the onion, although I am a big apple kind of guy

         17  myself, but I understand the metaphor.

         18                 On a serious note I would like to say

         19  that I am a disabled veteran, and I am very, very, I

         20  feel strongly about making sure that however we

         21  correct these laws, we leave space for disabled

         22  veterans.  We can streamline, we can do whatever we

         23  wish, real disabled veterans, not people who are

         24  going out there giving other people their plagues

         25  and stuff, I know a little about this too, real
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          2  disabled veterans.

          3                 Have we studied where there is a

          4  surplus or a deficit of vendors?  I mean, do we know

          5  where opportunities exist? I mean, perhaps we can

          6  help people get to where there is opportunity,

          7  instead of everybody cluttering one or two places.

          8                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA:  I think that

          9  is a really important suggestion.  One of the things

         10  that happened with the Street Vendors Review Panel

         11  is that certain streets were excluded, and it is

         12  like a balloon, you are then push it and they pop up

         13  in another street.  I happen to be very familiar

         14  with West 42nd Street.  West 42nd Street is an

         15  example of a street that has vendors cheek- to- jowl

         16  its entire width at Times Square.  Other blocks have

         17  no vendors.

         18                 I think that as a concept when we

         19  talk about making new rules that are simple and

         20  fair, I think a big piece of this would be attracted

         21  to the notion of dispersal.  Where if you could

         22  figure out a way legally, protecting the First

         23  Amendment vendors, understanding the rights of the

         24  disabled vets, and then the rights of all legal

         25  vendors, if you could figure out a way to disperse
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          2  them throughout all commercial areas, I think we

          3  would be well served.  But that is a really hard

          4  thing to do.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Can I say

          6  that one complaint that I have heard, Sir, of the

          7  Environmental Control Board, and a very serious one

          8  to me, is that there are no other languages besides

          9  English, that these hearings are given in.  If that

         10  is the case, it is, it should be illegal to do such,

         11  to expect a person to stand in front of a judge and

         12  have no idea what the person is speaking about.

         13  And, I mean, come on now, that is a kangaroo court

         14  and that is not the American system.

         15                 Yes, I will conclude by just

         16  commending the Commissioner for working with many of

         17  these groups.  They have come to me; they have come

         18  with some very solid stuff.  And I commend the

         19  groups also, the vendors groups for educating the

         20  Council and other people.  I think that a fair

         21  compromise will take into account all of the

         22  interest stakeholders without doing harm to our

         23  great city.

         24                 Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you, Council
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          2  Member Sanders.  We will have time to talk about

          3  this a lot further, so I am not going to ask you

          4  anything other than, in this informal dialogue, do

          5  you have some time frame that you think you are

          6  going to be coming up with some preliminary ideas,

          7  and that you might want to chat with this Chair

          8  about what you have seen, roped it in some way?

          9                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA:  I think it is

         10  fair to say that when the law in Albany sunsetted on

         11  March the first, the ground shifted somewhat.

         12  Because now attention is being paid, and in fact,

         13  the city has proposed a bill in Albany that would

         14  extend the protections for the disabled vets in

         15  Midtown.  It would, in fact, protect ground zero

         16  from any vending in honor of the victims of 9/11,

         17  and it would - -

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  We did that with a

         19  Home Rule Message?

         20                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA:  No, we did not

         21  need one, because this is the State law that I

         22  referred to that dates back to 1866.  And we are

         23  also suggesting fingerprinting to help us on

         24  enforcement with the illegals.  That is the only

         25  bill that is currently in play in Albany and our
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          2  attention is, at the moment, focused on that.

          3  Because as we both tried to express so much is in

          4  fact directed and grounded in that State law.

          5                 So I cannot answer that question

          6  about a time frame, we are focusing on Albany at the

          7  moment.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I think that we

          9  certainly want to make sure that this Committee is

         10  involved in that and try to be helpful, whether it

         11  requires a Home Rule Message or not, we want to be

         12  involved with that, and we certainly want to know

         13  what you are doing, because that helps us not put

         14  some heat on you when phone calls come in here.  And

         15  certainly, we can support, I can say that as the

         16  Chair, the law about fingerprinting.  So we would be

         17  happy to work with you and indicate to Albany and

         18  our colleagues in government up there, what our

         19  sense of it is.  We are all trying to work with

         20  Albany, it has not been an easy task, lately.

         21                 Thank you very much, Commissioner.

         22  Mr. Hettleman, thank you very much.

         23                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA:  Thank you.

         24                 MR. HETTLEMAN:  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  The next panel,
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          2  and let me just give you an idea, because I know

          3  many of you have and continue to patient.  I have

          4  asked Tim Tompkins and Renee Giordano, Barbara

          5  Askins, Don Winters, and Carmen Fascia to come up.

          6  Madam, Madam, you are out of order.  There are

          7  people from the Administration, I know oftentimes it

          8  looks and has been in the past disrespectful, but

          9  there are people from the Consumer Affairs and the

         10  Administration who are staying to listen to all the

         11  comments.

         12                 I have asked them to come up, and

         13  then next will be Sean Basinski, Mike Donovan, Laura

         14  Kinney, and Myra Peters Contero. Then after that

         15  Everet Curry, the lady that is standing, Madeline

         16  Jackson, Mr. Wilshir, James Martin, and Nujehad

         17  Abdul- Qadir.  No, no, no, that is just telling that

         18  is, I am sorry, maybe you misunderstood me.  In the

         19  order of the panels that we will be calling.  This

         20  is the first panel of the Business Improvement

         21  Districts okay.  And if you will take that

         22  conversation, Andy, if you would help them take that

         23  conversation outside, if you will take that

         24  conversation and all those cards outside, now?  We

         25  can begin, thank you.  And I am limiting everybody's
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          2  testimony, so if you brought long testimony shrink

          3  it.  Okay?  Mr. Tompkins

          4                 MR. TOMPKINS:  I am Tim Tompkins the

          5  President of the Times Square Business Improvement

          6  District.  But I am speaking, and so is Renee

          7  Giordano, after me, on behalf of the BID Managers

          8  Association.  I want to start off just be thanking

          9  the Council member and the members of the Committee,

         10  as well as Commissioner Dykstra and Mr. Hettleman

         11  for taking on this issue.  It is not a sexy issue,

         12  it is very difficult, but it needs to be solved.

         13                 There are 44 Business Improvement

         14  Districts, and the important thing is you may see

         15  the two of us, but really we represent tens of

         16  thousands of small businesses, for whom vending and

         17  this problem of solving vending is probably our

         18  major issue. Our concern is not one where we are

         19  saying eliminate vending, or it is not one where we

         20  are denying that there are a lot of hardworking

         21  legitimate small business people involved in that

         22  profession.

         23                 It is about recognizing, as you have,

         24  the difference between some kinds of vending that

         25  are problematic and others that are not.  And it is
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          2  important in all of this to recognize the other set

          3  of small business people who are not here as in big

          4  numbers, but are, because they are working in their

          5  shops, who have directly affected the small shop

          6  owners who are hurt by the current vending

          7  situation.

          8                 You have heard it said, "If it ain't

          9  broke, don't fix it."  Well when it comes to vending

         10  the system is broke, so please help us fix it?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Mr. Tompkins, hold

         12  on just one minute.  Thank you, please continue.

         13                 MR. TOMPKINS:  You have heard about

         14  the different issues.  Vending is an honored part of

         15  New York City's history, the problem is with illegal

         16  vending and with this confusing and unfair

         17  regulations that are as ugly, almost as ugly as the

         18  piles of goods that pile up in the street.  It is a

         19  mix of overlapping rules that make it so confusing.

         20  If you thought that Einstein's theory of relativity

         21  was complicated, just try understanding these rules,

         22  I mean, you have heard today, it is impossible to

         23  understand and that is difficult for everyone.

         24                 What is that a problem?  First of all

         25  it is a quality of life issue; the City made great
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          2  progress in protecting and in making the streets a

          3  better and cleaner.  This is the one issue where

          4  there is still a lot of area where we need to go.

          5  It is a security issue, it happens that the places

          6  where there is the greatest concentration of vendors

          7  also happen to be the streets and the sidewalks that

          8  are the most crowded.  And if you go to places

          9  throughout the City, in Brooklyn, Queens the Bronx,

         10  Midtown, Downtown where there is the most vendors,

         11  you will see people literally walking on the

         12  streets, and having their lives risked because, it

         13  is not because there are vendors per se, but because

         14  the regulation is so haphazard and out of control.

         15                 Third, it is a consumer protection

         16  issue with respect to illegal vendors, a lot of

         17  people get ripped off, they get sold counterfeit

         18  goods or goods that do not work, and then the folks

         19  are not there the next day.

         20                 Fourth, related with that with the

         21  illegal vendors, there is a link to organized crime

         22  for the illegal vendors.  They are part of a complex

         23  network.  It is very sophisticated; many of the

         24  things that are in the small briefcases are arranged

         25  exactly in the same way.  It is more than just
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          2  simply an individual entrepreneur in the case of the

          3  illegal vendors, and that is direct competition for

          4  the legitimate and honest vendors.

          5                 As you said, a big issue is that it

          6  cost lost tax money.  The Comptroller estimated a

          7  billion dollars in tax money and in license money

          8  that is lost, because this is not adequately

          9  regulated, particularly the illegal vendors.

         10                 Also, and most importantly, it hurts

         11  small businesses.  It hurts the legitimate vendors

         12  that are trying to make a living.  But again, it

         13  hurts the tens of thousands of small businesses that

         14  have to pay rent, that have to pay taxes, that have

         15  to pay license fees when someone can just set up

         16  shop outside, and not just one, but 10 in one place.

         17    That is the issue, it is not just that it exists,

         18  but the scope of it.

         19                 You literally need a Ph.D. To figure

         20  this stuff out, and for that reason it is unfair to

         21  the vendors, as well as the police who are trying to

         22  enforced these laws to try to understand it.

         23                 What are the solutions?  First, a few

         24  needs back the BID Managers came up with a proposed

         25  legislative solution called Intro. 110.  Please, use
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          2  that as a starting point.  There may be adjustments

          3  that need to be made, but it is an attempt at a

          4  comprehensive solution.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  What was the time

          6  frame for that?

          7                 MR. TOMPKINS:  That was a few years

          8  back, before my time, I think it was four or five

          9  years back.

         10                 But there is a comprehensive piece of

         11  legislation that takes a good shot at starting to

         12  deal with this.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  We will take a

         14  look at it.

         15                 MR. TOMPKINS:  Second, the Mayor and

         16  the District Attorney have to continue with these

         17  efforts at enforcement, using every available

         18  enforcement tool.  What he just talked about the

         19  licensing agency is not able to get the information

         20  about the people who have been breaking the rules,

         21  is just classic left- hand, right- hand stuff that

         22  can solve a lot of problems.

         23                 Third, the State laws need to be, the

         24  one State law that expired needs to be extended.

         25  And then as everyone had said, the fingerprinting
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          2  needs to be added.  Again, it is fingerprinting is

          3  for people who have been arrested for a crime.  It

          4  is not proactive, it is only in response to people

          5  who have committed a crime, so you do not have the

          6  case where somebody will get arrested 25 times, or

          7  100 times, literally, and there is no knowledge of

          8  the number of offenses.

          9                 The key then is whatever rules are

         10  done are simple, fair and enforceable, and most of

         11  all, it is a level playing field. Make it fair,

         12  because the current system is not fair. And that is

         13  making it fair not just for people who are vendors,

         14  but keeping in mind the huge constituency of small

         15  business owners that are very much affected by the

         16  vendors legislation, even when they are not directly

         17  mentioned in it in any way, shape, or form.  And

         18  those are the tens of thousands of people that we

         19  are truly representing today.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you, Mr.

         21  Tompkins.  Before, I am sorry, your name was?

         22                 MS. GIORDANO:  Renee Giordano.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Mr. Tompkins,

         24  could you tell me what your broad definition of a

         25  small businessperson is?
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          2                 MR. TOMPKINS:  I would, what I think

          3  of when I use that term, is a small, a person who

          4  owns a retail store, you know, it could be a

          5  souvenir store in Times Square, or a small clothing

          6  store.  These are people who own their own

          7  businesses, many of whom are immigrants or they are

          8  first- generation business owners, businesses that

          9  employ less than 15 or 20 people, that is what I

         10  mean.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.  Yes,

         12  Ma'am.

         13                 MS. GIORDANO: Hello, my name is Renee

         14  Giordano.  I am the Executive Director of the Sunset

         15  Park Business Improvement District.  And I would

         16  like to thank Councilman Philip Reed and the

         17  Committee on Consumer Affairs for this opportunity

         18  to speak about the problems with illegal vending.

         19  Our shopping strip is made up of over 500 small mom

         20  and pop shops.  The owners are about 90 percent

         21  immigrants, many of them recently arrived with

         22  families who work long hours, seven days a week in

         23  order to pay their rent, their taxes and their

         24  insurances.  They came here for a better life and

         25  have the desire to own a business.  So they rented a
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          2  small storefront and got their licenses to sell

          3  their wares.

          4                 Yet, while they are striving to make

          5  ends meet by complying with the laws and the needs

          6  of the customers, others are illegally vending right

          7  in front of them, creating a dirty, congested

          8  shopping atmosphere and often selling illegal and

          9  inferior products, while at the same time not paying

         10  taxes.  Many of my local merchants wanted to be here

         11  today to explain their plight, but they could not

         12  afford to close their shops.

         13                 Businesses in New York City, even the

         14  small businesses such as those, which make up the

         15  Sunset Park Business Improvement District, and most

         16  of the other bids in New York City, are required to

         17  follow strict regulations.  And immigrants who opens

         18  a restaurant to sell his or her native food to an

         19  immigrant base finds that he or she have to follow

         20  numerous health regulations, inspectors are sent

         21  routinely to issue summonses if these laws are not

         22  followed.  But an illegal food vendor can cook at

         23  home, buy a cooler, a shopping cart, and a piece of

         24  wood and set up anywhere he or she pleases, selling

         25  food to an unsuspecting public without

                                                            80

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  repercussions, fines or inspections.  We are not

          3  concerned that the restaurant has to follow rules,

          4  but we are upset that an illegal vendor is not

          5  monitored with the same fervor as a legitimate

          6  business.

          7                 A person opening up a business must

          8  collect and pay taxes, and follow many regulations

          9  governing his store signage. Small stores are held

         10  accountable for their products, and one complaint

         11  can bring an inspector and possible fines.  Yet, on

         12  the sidewalk anyone can set up a blanket or a table,

         13  put up a handwritten sign, not give receipts, not

         14  charge tax, but never be confronted with even a

         15  summons.

         16                 Somewhere in history, the government,

         17  which is supposed to protect all its citizens, has

         18  forgotten the true small entrepreneurs, the real

         19  basis for economic stability, and left them out in

         20  the cold.  When did the City decide to first protect

         21  the person who flaunts the laws, rather than the

         22  individual shopkeeper who follows the laws?  Some

         23  vendors make so much money that they only have to

         24  sell 3- 4 days a week for about 4- 5 hours, and can

         25  even take extended vacations, while our local
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          2  storeowner is often in debt, and cannot even afford

          3  to take off a few hours to come to a meeting or a

          4  City Council hearing to speak about these negative

          5  conditions, which daily affect his or her

          6  livelihood.  Studies show that small businesses

          7  collectively are the largest contributors to the

          8  City, but when illegal vending is allowed to ruin a

          9  commercial strip, it sends a negative message to

         10  those hardworking, small business owners.

         11                 I received an email from Robert

         12  Lederman, who plans to testify today too, and I want

         13  to thank him for keeping me informed and giving me

         14  some insight into his thinking.  He makes a case for

         15  the streets of New York City being public property

         16  and infection act, the most valuable piece of real

         17  estate in New York City.  That is exactly why we

         18  cannot allow a free- for- all.  WE need to protect

         19  our public places, even our sidewalks, and make sure

         20  that they are there for the use of everyone.

         21  According to the City regulations, a small

         22  businessperson must keep the sidewalk in front of

         23  his or her business clean, plus 18" into the street

         24  or receive a ticket.  If this is the public's

         25  property, why should a private business be forced to
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          2  do this, especially when somebody illegally vending

          3  or just walking by causes that garbage and the

          4  message? Maybe business owners should be commended

          5  for doing this public service.

          6                 As you see, I have brought along

          7  pictures to highlight how awful Fifth Avenue, which

          8  is the main commercial strip in my community, looks

          9  while illegal vending is taking place. As you can

         10  see, the quality of life of our streets and

         11  sidewalks, as well as the neighboring residential

         12  blocks is at stake.  Can you imagine if you owned a

         13  house and your family or friends, or even your boss

         14  came to visit, but you just live down the block from

         15  some of these garbage piles?  I have seen the

         16  pedestrians and even a mail carrier walk in the

         17  street because there was no room on the sidewalk.

         18                 In each of your packets, you will

         19  find more pictures, which I hope you will look at.

         20  And I expect that many of you have already walked

         21  through areas that looked just like this.

         22                 The incidents and examples that I

         23  have mentioned are specific to Sunset Park.

         24  Hundreds of areas have similar problems and the

         25  problem is getting worse, not better.  The laws and
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          2  regulations governing street vending are confusing,

          3  convoluted, and hard to enforce.  Just take a look

          4  at the summarized list of regulations I have given

          5  you, which only pertain to the 26 blocks of Fifth

          6  Avenue in Sunset Park.  The laws need to be

          7  overhauled, a comprehensive plan for New York City

          8  is important.

          9                 Once again, I would like to thank you

         10  for taking the time to study this issue, and on

         11  behalf of the small businesses, I look forward to

         12  working together to find a viable and successful

         13  solution to this problem.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.  How do

         15  I pronounce your last name?

         16                 MS. GIORDANO:  Giordano.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Giordano, oh, I am

         18  familiar with that name.  Have you had a chance to

         19  reach out to your local elected officials, both as

         20  the head of the BID?  Did I understand right?

         21                 MS. GIORDANO:  Right.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Have you reached

         23  out to the State Legislature's and/or the Council

         24  member from that district and discussed these

         25  issues?
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          2  MS. GIORDANO:  More times than I can imagine.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I am not trying to

          4  get anybody in trouble.

          5                 MS. GIORDANO:  Right.  No, this is an

          6  issue that every time the Board of Directors meet

          7  for the BID it is on the agenda.  Every time we meet

          8  with the Police, it is on the agenda. Every time we

          9  meet with an elected official, it is on the agenda.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Has the Consumer

         11  Affairs or the Police Department reached out to you

         12  with this sort of ad hoc group that they say are

         13  sitting around talking about this issue, are you

         14  aware of that?

         15                 MS. GIORDANO:  Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Have you had a

         17  chance to put in some input?

         18                 MS. GIORDANO:  I have not personally

         19  spoken on that Committee, but I am aware of it.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So you are aware

         21  that conversation is going on?

         22                 MS. GIORDANO:  Right.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay, thank you

         24  very much.  Thank you both.

         25                 I am going to try to limit my
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          2  questions, unless they are just germane, or I feel

          3  like I have to ask it, because I really want to have

          4  people to have an opportunity to have this

          5  testimony. Many of my colleagues will be reviewing

          6  the testimony as well as the Crosswalks and others

          7  about this dialogue.  So I do not want people to

          8  think that their comments are not heard.

          9                 Whoever is here representing the

         10  Administration, would you raise your hand?  Raise it

         11  a little higher, Andy, don't be bashful, in fact,

         12  stand up back there for me, would you?  Okay, I just

         13  want people to know that this is someone from

         14  Consumer Affairs, and there are other people from

         15  the Administration who are here, hearing your

         16  testimony.   This is not, I am not going to sit here

         17  and do something in vein, I would not ask you to do

         18  that either.  So I do not want you to be

         19  disappointed, other colleagues may be joining us.

         20  But as you can hear, there are a lot of things that

         21  we are having to attend to, specifically related to

         22  the budget crisis.

         23                 The next panel is Sean Basinski, Mike

         24  Donovan, Laura Kinney, and Myra Peters Contero.  And

         25  then after them, as I said before, is Everet Curry,
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          2  and Madeline Jackson, and the people that I

          3  mentioned, so if you could be prepared to come and

          4  testify, that would save us some time.  Thank you.

          5                 You can get started in any order that

          6  you want, but would you just, all identify

          7  yourselves first, for the record, just go down the

          8  line there and tell me who everybody is.  And then

          9  whoever wants to start, can start.

         10                 MR. BASINSKI:  I am Sean Basinski

         11  from the Street Vendors Project of the Urban Justice

         12  Center.

         13                 MR. DONOVAN:  My name is Mike Donovan

         14  from Local 169V of Unite.

         15                 MS. HASSENGER:  I am Christina

         16  Hassenger from 169V of Unite.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay, I was

         18  looking for Myra there.  Thank you, no problem.

         19  Just for the record tell us who you are.

         20                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  I am Myra Peters

         21  Contero from the Puerto Rican Legal Defense and

         22  Education Fund Immigrant Rights Project.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.  Sean

         24  are you starting, who is starting over there, it

         25  does not matter?
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          2                 MR. BASINSKI:  Sure, I can start.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Pull the

          4  microphone down and a little closer to you, the

          5  might work best.

          6                 MR. BASINSKI:  Thank you very much,

          7  and thank you for the opportunity to have this

          8  hearing today, Council member.  As I said, I am Sean

          9  Basinski from the Street Vendors Project of the

         10  Urban Justice Center.  I am also a former vendor

         11  myself, and so I know the struggles of being out

         12  there on the street.  The Street Vendors Project

         13  provides free legal representation and also works to

         14  organize street vendors of all kinds throughout the

         15  City.

         16                 And I also wanted to thank the rest

         17  of the Council members who we have met with from the

         18  Committee who have put their support behind the

         19  vendors out there on the streets who are struggling

         20  every day.

         21                 We definitely look forward to this,

         22  we see today as really as a beginning, and we look

         23  forward to working with you in the future on these

         24  matters.  You know for a long time vendors have not

         25  had much of a voice in City Hall, and we think times
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          2  are changing now, and so I am very grateful to see

          3  so many vendors here today.  Hopefully, to express

          4  their own voices.

          5                 The theme that we have encountered

          6  when we talked to vendors across the City on the

          7  streets, walking the streets, and people who call

          8  our offices is that vendors are tired of being

          9  treated like criminals.  You know we have heard

         10  today about fingerprinting, and we have heard about

         11  the NYPD enforcement, and we have heard from

         12  representatives of groups that call themselves small

         13  businesses, but you know, vendors are small

         14  businesses too. And really, we see this as an

         15  economic development issue, or in fact, a much more

         16  than law enforcement issue, and that are what we are

         17  here to talk about today.

         18                 You know I was searching the Internet

         19  this morning, I found an article that talked about a

         20  program in Buffalo, New York that provides all kinds

         21  of small business training for vendors, specialized

         22  for vendors that provides low- interest loans so

         23  that vendors can get carts, all kinds of programs.

         24  And I said, well, it is odd that Buffalo, New York

         25  is doing this, and yet, New York City, the street
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          2  vending capital of the world has not such program in

          3  place.  In fact, we treat our vendors like

          4  criminals.  We arrest them, we harass them, we give

          5  them endless tickets, which they do have to pay or

          6  else they cannot renew their licenses.  These

          7  tickets are as much as $1,000 each.  We drive them

          8  from the - -

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Sean, can you hold

         10  on for a second?

         11                 MR. BASINSKI:  Absolutely.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Excuse me, I know

         13  it is difficult upstairs, there are a lot of seats

         14  down here, if you would like to come.  But I have to

         15  ask you to remain quiet while you are sitting up

         16  there.  Many of you are very patient, but if you

         17  want to move downstairs because it might make you

         18  more comfortable, please do that.

         19                 MR. BASINSKI:  Yes, I will be brief

         20  because I know there are a lot of vendors here as

         21  well that want to speak.  But generally, what has

         22  happened over the years is that the business groups

         23  have had a lot of influence in City Council and in

         24  City Hall.  They have gradually closed streets and

         25  issued licenses.  And we hope the time for that is
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          2  now changing with the new Vendors Coalition of

          3  vendors, licensed vendors and people who are not

          4  given licenses throughout the City.

          5                 You know just a couple of comments on

          6  Commissioner Dykstra's testimony.  You know she that

          7  the City has no plan for vendors, and that is okay,

          8  because vendors have a plan.  They are sick of being

          9  pushed around, and really now the time has come for

         10  them, for us all to rise up and do something about

         11  this.  I think it is a critical moment in the

         12  history of street vending in New York, and we really

         13  look forward to working with the Council on these

         14  issues.

         15                 We are going to be proposing a voter

         16  registration drive going forward, and also, we are

         17  going to be looking toward, the Coalition of Vending

         18  Groups will be looking toward introducing our own

         19  legislation to advance the vendors cause.  And I

         20  thank you very much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  When you say you

         22  have a plan, a specific plan, have you put that

         23  forward yet?

         24                 MR. BASINSKI:  In fact, we have,

         25  although some of what we are talking about today is
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          2  about treatment.  The Street Vendors Project along

          3  with Local 169 of UNITE, has put together a 10-

          4  point plan of action.  These are all practical

          5  things, concrete things that we thing need to be

          6  done.  And even though some of what you talked about

          7  today in terms of vendors' harassment is amorphous.

          8  These are concrete issues and we are going to be

          9  looking to - -

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Have you had a

         11  chance to submit them to the Department of Consumer

         12  Affairs or the Police?

         13                 MR. BASINSKI:  We just finished it,

         14  and so we are going to be circulating that.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Great, we are

         16  looking forward to, and perhaps most of you know

         17  that almost everybody at the table and other people

         18  have come to me individually as the Chair and come

         19  forward, what we are looking for today, yes, to hear

         20  the concerns, but anybody that has what they think

         21  is a solution, is even more sought after.  Because

         22  this is a complicated issue.  So this is the first

         23  in trying to sort of hear it, look at it, blend it

         24  all together, and then come forward with stuff.

         25                 So I appreciate that you are working
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          2  on that.  Thank you.

          3                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  As I mentioned,

          4  my name is Myra Peters Contero, and I am an attorney

          5  at the Immigrant Rights Project at the Puerto Rican

          6  Legal Defense and Education Fund.  I thank the

          7  Committee an everybody present for inviting us here

          8  today and listening to our concerns.  But this is

          9  only a very, very first baby step.  Today we are

         10  just touching on the surface.  The Commissioner, the

         11  folks from Criminal Justice have presented, the BIDs

         12  have presented an array of concerns, which I had

         13  time to encounter and engage in a debate or

         14  discussion with them about them to reach a solution.

         15    But today we only have a few minutes, so I am

         16  going to tell you that I speak on behalf

         17  approximately 200 mobile street vendors in Brooklyn.

         18    Many of them are here today in the back; many of

         19  them were out on the steps of City Hall today as the

         20  media came out.  Many of them helped to address you

         21  today, and I do not know if we will have time, so I

         22  am going to do my best to present their concerns.

         23                 Many of the vendors I work with are

         24  victims of 9/11. The factories closed down in their

         25  neighborhoods, businesses dropped, and they were
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          2  driven to the street to vend, because they could not

          3  otherwise make a living.  We talked a lot about

          4  legislation, enforcement, business interest, but

          5  there is a level of humanity that there are 2.5

          6  million people unemployed due to 9/11, who have to

          7  feed their children, who would prefer to vendor

          8  legally, who do not enjoy the prospect of facing

          9  NYPD every day and risk harassment.  They want to

         10  make an honest living.

         11                 They are small entrepreneurs in the

         12  truest sense of the word, they identified a demand

         13  in their neighborhoods, and they have worked

         14  creatively with limited resources and in extremely

         15  adverse circumstances to develop an niche in order

         16  to feed their families.  They contribute to the

         17  economic development of their communities.  They buy

         18  from local distributors, they vend to their

         19  neighbors, and they spend all of their money in the

         20  communities where they live and send their children

         21  to schools.

         22                 We heard a little bit about police

         23  enforcement.  I will spare you the details of the

         24  police harassment stories I have heard, one after

         25  another.  That the Latin- Americans Project in
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          2  Brooklyn, who is organizing the workers have

          3  documented, they have met with the precincts, we

          4  have report after report of really gross of abuse

          5  discretion on the part of NYPD.

          6                 The one thing that I will note that I

          7  personally have accompanied the vendors to criminal

          8  court many, many times, and I can vouch first- hand

          9  that for each of those vendors interactions with an

         10  officer, they walk away with no less than five or

         11  six criminal summonses.  They are perpetually

         12  overcharged.  It is not only because the laws are

         13  confusing, it is because the officers use the

         14  opportunity to harass them through their ticket

         15  writing process.  They throw in anything, things

         16  they clearly are not familiar with, in addition to

         17  unlicensed vending.  You see tax code violations,

         18  vending in a crosswalk, obstructing pedestrian

         19  traffic, a series, stacks of five and ten tickets

         20  for one incident as a means of harassing the

         21  workers, that is outrageous.

         22                 These tickets, as was noted by the

         23  statistics presented by the City, the vast majority

         24  of these are dismissed, they are without merit, they

         25  are confusing, they are harassing.  So we need to
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          2  think about, and this is one place where we will all

          3  agree, the City is in a financial crisis.  They are

          4  spending enormous amounts of money through the

          5  police officers, the legal aid attorney, the hearing

          6  officer, the court system, where the majority of

          7  these tickets are dismissed.  Obviously, it is not

          8  cost- effective for the City, not to mention that

          9  the Environmental Control Board with a small portion

         10  of the tickets in Brooklyn that the vendors received

         11  are sent.  Contrary to the Administration's

         12  representations that these are not small fines; they

         13  are outrageously high fines.  One of my clients

         14  alone here is facing $1,000 ticket in front of the

         15  Environmental Control Board, and that is standard.

         16  I do not know what perspective he is coming from,

         17  but that is not a small fine for me or for anybody

         18  in the audience.

         19                 In addition, there are no translators

         20  available at the Environmental Control Board.  So

         21  unless our clients can find somebody to go translate

         22  for them, they are facing and Administrative Law

         23  Judge at a binding proceeding, facing $1,000 fine

         24  with zero ability to communicate with the hearing

         25  officer adjudicating their claims.  That is
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          2  outrageous.

          3                 So what do we do?  Instead of

          4  thinking of this as an adversarial or zero sum

          5  situation, I do not mean to be overly optimistic,

          6  but this is a fantastic opportunity for the City to

          7  do the right thing.  We agree on so many points, it

          8  seems like a perfect opportunity to collaborate.

          9  The City needs the revenue, the people need the

         10  jobs, and there are areas where residents,

         11  businesses, and vendors are in agreement.  The City

         12  is losing, according to the Comptroller, a billion

         13  dollars a year in taxes and licenses.  This is

         14  precisely why we should raise the caps.  These

         15  vendors want to pay the licensing fees, want to pay

         16  the taxes, and want to be integrated into the

         17  system.

         18                 The suggestions they have proposed

         19  are simple, first, above all else they want to have

         20  a voice at the table and their concerns considered

         21  as the vendors laws are redrawn over the

         22  generations, as everybody here, every person who has

         23  testified and everyone in the audience knows, the

         24  laws are a mess.  And we hope, we think this is a

         25  group of strong, incredibly organized vendors that
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          2  have been meeting on a weekly basis for a year.

          3  They have met with their precincts, they have met

          4  with their Council members, and they are ready to

          5  add to the discussion.  Also, this is the only

          6  constituency you will probably ever meet who wants

          7  desperately to pay taxes.  Indeed, when we gather up

          8  to draw our list of demands and concerns, at the top

          9  of everyone's list here was to integrate in the

         10  system and start paying their taxes legally.  It is

         11  of great interest to them.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Can you - -

         13                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  Yes, I am

         14  wrapping up.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: - -  come to a

         16  conclusion?

         17                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  Yes.  In

         18  addition, I wanted to note that the vendors

         19  recognize that there are business interests that

         20  oppose them.  But in the neighborhoods where they

         21  vendors, there are also plenty of business people

         22  who also could not come out today, who support them

         23  and benefit from them, as do the residents.

         24                 So I am hoping that the City Council,

         25  who is left here from the City Council, will
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          2  continue to work with us.  As Sean mentioned - -

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  How does the

          4  vendor help the business people?

          5                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  They buy from

          6  them, they spend money in their shops, and they

          7  generate revenue that is spent in their shops.  As a

          8  reminder, they pay sales taxes on everything they

          9  earn; they have taxpayer ID's, and on their own

         10  initiative pay taxes on their income.  This myth

         11  that vendors do not pay taxes has to crushed here.

         12  I can bring each one, one- by- one to bring to you,

         13  they pay their taxes on their own at the IRS with

         14  their taxpayer IDs, they pay sale taxes on

         15  everything they buy merchants, and the money stay in

         16  their community.  This is an economic development

         17  issue.

         18                 We urge the City Council to please

         19  take this opportunity to fix a system that is

         20  absolutely broken.  Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I do not know if

         22  you can top that, but you certainly could try.  But

         23  you said that you had documentation on a lot of

         24  these fines and interactions with the police, and we

         25  would very much look forward if you could share that
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          2  with us, as we begin to sort of sift through what

          3  the next steps are?

          4                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  Absolutely.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.

          6                 MR. DONOVAN:  My name is Mike

          7  Donovan.  I am with Local 169V of Unite.  And the

          8  first think I would like to do is thank the Council

          9  members for having a hearing and showing the vendors

         10  that they are important in the City, and the City

         11  does, at least at this level, care that they still

         12  remain on the streets.

         13                 I was kind of amazed that

         14  Commissioner Dykstra came up with the idea that

         15  there is confusion all over on the bureaucratic

         16  level with regard to the vendors laws.  If it is

         17  confusion on the bureaucratic level, the folks who

         18  oversee the industry, it is absolute chaos on the

         19  street for the vendors who have to live under this

         20  system.

         21                 I also would like to address the

         22  issue of the BIDs. The BIDs spend a lot of time

         23  talking about the illegal vendor.  And I believe

         24  that in the cases that I have run- ins with the

         25  BIDs, I believe this is a smoke screen.  We brought
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          2  legitimate issues to the BIDs, and every response

          3  that we have received from them, they pointed to the

          4  illegal vendor.  When the vendor in question had a

          5  license, a permit, and was legal on that street.  So

          6  the BIDs are not all correct in the issue of

          7  illegals on the street.  They use it as a smoke

          8  screen to cover up their wanting to get rid of the

          9  legal vendors, I believe, in this City too.  And I

         10  do not say that as a blanket, but I believe in most

         11  of the parts it is.

         12                 The vendors that we see here are

         13  varied and many, okay, we have artists, we have food

         14  vendors, we have general vendors, we have disabled

         15  veterans, and for some reason they have all come

         16  together at one time here.  And the reason they have

         17  come together at one time is because of the

         18  confusion and the mess that the City has created

         19  with regard to the vendors.  And it is about time

         20  now that the City step back and did the right thing,

         21  and do something on behalf of the vendors and

         22  instead of against the vendors.

         23                 And I will just wrap up here very

         24  quickly.  One of the things that we are asking for,

         25  and we gave you our proposal on the laws, we are
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          2  asking for a fair adjudication of the grievances of

          3  the vendors.  This is about the only group of people

          4  who are guilty until they are proven innocent.

          5  Their goods are taken, they have to go through a

          6  system that relies on the police to show up, they

          7  never show up, and until the time that the police

          8  show up or they miswritten the law when they fine

          9  them and cited them, the vendors, themselves, cannot

         10  get back on the street, at least, in many of the

         11  situations.

         12                 These are folks who are simply trying

         13  to survive in the City, they are an integral part of

         14  the City, and we hope that the City does the right

         15  thing in keeping them on the street and keeping them

         16  as part of the fabric of the City.  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I agree with much

         18  of what you said, and I think that certainly concern

         19  that they are essentially guilty until proven

         20  otherwise, the virtue of having their goods

         21  confiscated, and you know, you cannot argue with a

         22  cop on the street.  But they may be wrong, and

         23  nevertheless, you lost that time and the money you

         24  put out.  So that is one of the reasons that I think

         25  we want to try look at how, not only the training
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          2  for the vendors, but also for the police, and you

          3  know, clearer documentation of why you can be where

          4  you are.  So that we can stop that from happening.

          5  Well, it does not matter, just I am taking it until

          6  we get it cleared up.  I think that is very, that is

          7  just basically unfair.

          8                 Ms. Hassenger, do you have something

          9  that you need to add, because if you do not, I will

         10  be very happy?

         11                 MS. HASSENGER:  It is just a quick

         12  story, a quick story, a couple of minutes of your

         13  time.

         14                 And I just wanted to speak to this,

         15  a) because it is the best forum - -

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Tell us who you

         17  are?

         18                 MS. HASSENGER:  Oh, I am sorry.  I am

         19  Christina Hassenger from the Local 169V of Unite.  I

         20  work with Mike Donovan. And I just wanted to relay

         21  this, because there has been a lot of talk today

         22  about illegal vendors, and basically that these guys

         23  are always the problem, and what Mike spoke to about

         24  the smoke screen effected that the BIDs put out

         25  there.  And I just wanted to tell this quick little
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          2  story about one person who came to us in, I believe

          3  it was about August.  And he was on 46th Street and

          4  Lexington Avenue, and he had been there for years.

          5  And he goes to work one day, and there are six

          6  potted planters, where he used to vend, thereby

          7  making any other spot on the street illegal.  So his

          8  legal spot is not an illegal spot.

          9                 So we start the process of trying to

         10  get these planters removed.  You go to DOT, you file

         11  a complaint, they come back and three months nothing

         12  is done, even though they agree with you, the

         13  planters are illegal.  Go back in another three

         14  months, file another complaint, nothing is done.  We

         15  did this three times, and then finally got out DOT

         16  that the BID in question had gone to franchises to

         17  go through the two- year process of legalizing their

         18  six illegal planters.  And as of last week, we got a

         19  letter back from Margaret Forgione in the DOT

         20  Office, who has ensured us that these planters will

         21  be removed so this vendors can go back and basically

         22  make a living, because planters do not have anything

         23  to add to the New York economy, where as vendors do.

         24                 And I just wanted to speak to this,

         25  as of last look, by the way, the planters are still
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          2  there, but the plants are out of them.  I do not

          3  know what that means legally, but we are looking

          4  into it.  Either way, this guy is still not back to

          5  work, it has been about 8 months.  But I just wanted

          6  to tell this quick little story that while we are

          7  looking for solutions and we do value the Council's

          8  time and the time of Gretchen Dykstra and the

          9  Consumer Affairs Office, and we do want to find some

         10  way to write an overhaul of these laws that will

         11  work for everybody.  But also to bring up the point

         12  that there also are protections already written into

         13  these laws that these BIDs have done with these

         14  planters throughout the City is blatantly illegal.

         15  It ignores the regulations of New York City

         16  agencies, and you do not see them being

         17  fingerprinted.

         18                 And so if you want to talk about

         19  illegal vendors, you should talk about illegal BIDs,

         20  illegal planters, and this poor person has been out

         21  of work 8 months.  There is nothing he can do about

         22  it, even though the law is totally on his side.  So,

         23  while we are looking at rewriting vending laws, just

         24  bear in mind that there are protections there that

         25  are not even enforced when they should be.  Thanks.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well thank you all

          3  very much, and I appreciated that you commented on

          4  our time, but you know, our time is your time, we

          5  work for the public, and so is Gretchen Dykstra's

          6  and everybody else.  So we will give you all the

          7  time we need to come up with the right solutions to

          8  this.  I would also encourage all of you all to

          9  begin to individually, if you have problems, let

         10  your own elected officials know what they are.  That

         11  person should be reaching out to the elected

         12  officials.  You want to see some planters move in a

         13  hurry, talk to an elected official about it, or at

         14  least you will find out where he or she is coming

         15  from on that subject.  But the more you let your

         16  elected officials know, the more the priority of

         17  trying to solve this problem gets to the top of the

         18  pile.  And believe me, this day, the pile is high of

         19  crisis we are trying to solve.  So, do not forsake

         20  the idea of going to your district office of your

         21  representatives, particularly, at the State level,

         22  frankly, and letting them know that you pay taxes

         23  and you vote, that will get somebody's attention.

         24  Thank you.

         25                 Next is the panel that I told was
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          2  next, everybody remembers that panel?  Everet Curry,

          3  is she here?  Ms. Madeline Jackson, somebody name

          4  Madeline Jackson Jumanii Wilshir, yes, no? James

          5  Martin, Nujehad Abdul- Qadir, yes, yes.  Okay. And

          6  there is Leza Piazza, yes, yes, okay.  The Sergeant-

          7  At- Arms will get you a chair.

          8                 We are trying to move forward, and I

          9  know you have been patient, so why don't we start,

         10  and I am not sure whatever order.  I am going to put

         11  a two- minute clock on.  So, when you hear the

         12  buzzer, that means you had two minutes, okay.  You

         13  can condense, because a lot of things have been

         14  said.  Again, whatever order is best.

         15                 MR. MARTIN:  I am going to go first.

         16  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Councilman Reed.  We thank

         17  you for giving us this hearing, and the rest of the

         18  Council members.

         19                 I am a vendor in Manhattan in Harlem,

         20  unlicensed, and often to the public spiritual and

         21  religious items, that I have been declared no longer

         22  protected underneath the First Amendment. I am not

         23  familiar with the Barry Decision.  However, I am

         24  familiar with another decision in Brooklyn that

         25  resulted in oils and incense as not being legally
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          2  sellable on the street.  I think that that is very

          3  unfair.  I do not know the proceedings to go about

          4  to address that issue.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  The decision says

          6  that those are not covered by the First Amendment,

          7  is that what you are saying?

          8                 MR. MARTIN:  Yes.  And according

          9  Administrative Order No. 32 of the Police

         10  Enforcement, blah, blah, blah, oils and incense are

         11  illegal, and this went into effect as of June 6th.

         12  So they are considered unlicensed vendors.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  June 6th of 2002? MR

         14  . MARTIN:  Yes, June 2002, right.  And I think it is

         15  unconstitutional, it is a violation of the First

         16  Amendment.  And I think we should be allowed to sell

         17  these things on the street and offer them to the

         18  public as part of the cultural fabric of New York

         19  City, and I think it is a great thing.  And it

         20  provides a meaningful way of earnings for the

         21  individuals that are involved for their families,

         22  which is how I survive on a daily basis.

         23                 Number two is, I also offer African

         24  art and artifacts, and other types of artifacts.

         25  And while art has been deemed to be sellable or
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          2  offered to the public and being unlicensed and to be

          3  legal, the offices on 125th Street that I am not

          4  legally able to sell this art, and constantly harass

          5  me.  And due to the fact that I am already

          6  considered unlicensed, I am already considered

          7  illegal, I do not beg to differ with them to make a

          8  bad situation, worse.

          9                 So thank you for hearing me.  And I

         10  represent the Universal Vendors Association of

         11  Brooklyn, New York that was formed in an attempt to

         12  address this issue, and we appreciate meeting with

         13  you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well thank you for

         15  your testimony and your time.  You said at the

         16  beginning that you were an unlicensed vendors.  Have

         17  you applied for a license?

         18                 MR. MARTIN:  Due to the 853 that are

         19  allowed and there is a moratorium on receiving any

         20  other licenses, I cannot receive one.  I am not a

         21  veteran, I do have a Certificate of Tax Authority, I

         22  do report my taxes, and I do, do business with the

         23  IRS.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.  Who is

         25  next?
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          2                 MR. ABDUL- QADIR:  My name is Nujehad

          3  Abdul- Qadir, and I am President of the Universal

          4  Vendors Association, In The Name of God the Benefit

          5  the Merciful.

          6                 Good afternoon, ladies and gentlemen

          7  of the New York City Council.  Good afternoon,

          8  Chairman Philip Reed.

          9                 I am representing the Universal

         10  Vendors Association, a collective of over 400

         11  unlicensed street vendors who sell incense, oils and

         12  religious materials throughout New York City. Our

         13  members are not missionaries supported or supplied

         14  by rich religious institutions, but are unemployed

         15  people who have been helped by their various Masjids

         16  and Churches with opportunities to sell religious

         17  items under the auspices of those institutions.

         18                 Over the last four decades, the

         19  selling of incense, oils, and religious materials in

         20  New York City was always considered by the

         21  Department of Consumer Affairs as legal and

         22  protected by the First Amendment.  The Department of

         23  Consumer Affairs over the past years would even

         24  mediate between the vendors and the police letting

         25  those uninformed police officers know that these
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          2  vendors were protected by the First Amendment and

          3  were legal in their selling.

          4                 Just like hot dog vendors, incense

          5  and oil vending has become part of the ambiance and

          6  flavor of the New York City. Most New Yorkers have

          7  become familiar with their bright and colorful

          8  displays and savory smells.  Storeowners rarely

          9  complain because few stores sell these unprofitable

         10  items.  In many cases, storeowners have testified

         11  that the vendors make the sidewalks safer, and their

         12  presence discourages street crime and shoplifting.

         13                 In June of this year, as James has

         14  stated, the Police Command Order 32 declared that

         15  incense and oils were not religious and anyone

         16  selling those items without a Department of Consumer

         17  Affairs license would be subject to confiscation and

         18  arrest.

         19                 We now have a very serious situation

         20  with hundreds of vendors unable to provide for

         21  themselves.  While the City government through its'

         22  Police Department enforces these rulings, they never

         23  look at the human suffering.  Are our members to

         24  apply for welfare?  They City's welfare rolls are

         25  already over burdened.
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          2                 I think we should try to find a

          3  solution to this tragedy that is fair to all

          4  parties.  We enlist the help of this Committee and

          5  the rest of the New York City Council in helping our

          6  members return to the streets of New York.

          7                 And I would also like to say, is that

          8  New York is very different from all the other cities

          9  in America.  Do you understand?  It is small shops,

         10  it is vendors that have been part of New York for

         11  the last 200 years, and many of the Mayors fathers,

         12  Koch, Beam, and also Dinkins' father were vendors.

         13  Okay, we know that many of the major department

         14  stores that have now developed, you understand,

         15  Sears and Roebucks, Woolworths, these were also,

         16  began as vendors in the City of New York.  And today

         17  where the City is now, its economic culture is

         18  changing where you have these large, global

         19  department stores in the city, shopping centers,

         20  even the small stores are being affected, but the

         21  vendors are being affected.  And I would think that

         22  we would keep this culture norm, that we would not

         23  become like the rest of America where you have the

         24  same chain store just reproduced, redundantly

         25  reproduces all over the City.  New York is unique
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          2  because of that flavor of all the differences, and

          3  the uniqueness of the different businesses, that is

          4  why people come to her.  Do you understand?  The

          5  seed, they buy things that they could not normally

          6  buy in their own home shopping centers in vendors'

          7  districts.

          8                 So I hope you support this and that

          9  we can come to some understanding.  And like my

         10  brother said, this whole thing about the moratorium

         11  of 850 so vendors, that comes to one, with a

         12  population of 8 million people, on vendors per

         13  10,000 people, that is highly unrepresented, highly

         14  unrepresented.  So I think that you, we should lift

         15  the moratorium and have more vendors, it will help

         16  the situation, and the ones who sell religious

         17  articles, we should leave them alone.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

         20  much.

         21                 MS. CURRY:  Hello, my name is Everet.

         22    I am a member for Creative Vendors Alliance.  I

         23  wish first to thank you for the opportunity to

         24  express our concerns to the Council.  The Alliance

         25  is an association of artistic crafts people.  We
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          2  sell our wares on Broadway, Prince, and Spring

          3  Street.  We are vitally interested in the community

          4  in which we work and in all decisions and

          5  regulations that affect our livelihood.  For the

          6  most part we are people who have developed skills

          7  and an artistic outlook to conceive, design and

          8  create our products and have chosen to display and

          9  sell them directly to the public.  We come from many

         10  and varied backgrounds, but our life in working 12-

         11  hour days through freezing winters and the heat of

         12  summer.  We do this so that we can take part in the

         13  great marketplace in the streets of our City.  Our

         14  daily presence is our advertisement.  Our being here

         15  together is a sign of life telling the public, here

         16  is a marketplace where you can find something you

         17  need, something useful, something beautiful,

         18  something that may just brighten your life.

         19                 Like others, I am a vendor because I

         20  can be independent and my own boss.  As a self-

         21  taught artist, I can be creative and express myself

         22  in my wall hangings, which I alone conceive, design,

         23  and produce.  How well I do this is reflected in how

         24  well the every changing market receives it.  The

         25  street is where I meet the public; the alliance is
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          2  people like me.

          3                 We also contribute to the City as

          4  consumers, we buy our materials here, we buy our

          5  food here, we pay our rent, and we pay our taxes

          6  here.  We are continuing part of our city's economy,

          7  and in a very real way add color, spirit, and life

          8  to our City.  So it is very much in the interest of

          9  the City that this tradition of creative vendors may

         10  flourish.

         11                 We urge that our needs be addressed

         12  in any changes, rules and regulations regarding

         13  street vendors.  Such changes and enforcement of

         14  regulations should recognize and reflect our rights

         15  as citizens, and our needs to be free to meet the

         16  public.  I also want to comment after listening to

         17  some speeches earlier today, I want to express my

         18  concern that the word scheme and fingerprint has

         19  been spoken repeatedly.  Thank you.

         20                 MS. JACKSON:  My name is Madeline

         21  Jackson, and I am a member of the Creative Vendors

         22  Alliance.  And one of our goals is to have vendors

         23  recognized as part of the economic structure of the

         24  City.  My statement will be about what is right

         25  about street vending.
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          2                 While we are working, we are

          3  generating an income, which gets redistributed right

          4  back into the local economy. Example, we buy, we

          5  usually buy breakfast, lunch, and dinner in the area

          6  we are vending.  When we have to replenish our

          7  supply, we frequent the wholesale market, which

          8  given the economic situation is more than happy to

          9  have our business, since they are suffering the lack

         10  of business traveling into the City, due to the

         11  various color alerts and baggage restrictions.

         12                 With the income we receive from our

         13  vending, we pay rent, buy food, and shop as some of

         14  the very stores that complain about us as vendors.

         15  But are more than happy to accept our money when we

         16  are consumers.  The City should be thanking us for

         17  being able to contribute to the economy in a

         18  positive way, and these economic hard times and

         19  given the state of the current economy. The City

         20  needs everyone working.  Unemployed people cannot

         21  pay rent, buy food, or contribute to the economic,

         22  to this ever- changing, ever increasing failing

         23  economy.  I would be in the City's best interest to

         24  encourage us to grow and be prosperous because our

         25  success is to the City's benefit.
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          2                 We all have goals and dreams.  Some

          3  to own our own stores, others to have their talents

          4  realized, and to some to simply keep ahead of

          5  inflation.

          6                 MS. PIAZZA:  My name is Leza Piazza,

          7  and I am part of the Creative Vendors Alliance.  I

          8  am a craftswoman, artist, sculpturist, especially in

          9  the head field, I make hats.  With these God- given

         10  talents, I maintain my life.  I help my children and

         11  grandchildren; I pay my rent and cost of living.  I

         12  buy materials for my creations and I pay taxes.

         13                 With the state of things such as they

         14  are now, meaning war, which I am opposed to, making

         15  a living has become more difficult, but still

         16  possible.  Now along with all the turmoil existing

         17  around us, we working people, artist, not schemers,

         18  are distressed with the ideal of losing our

         19  livelihood.  To me this is death on the installment

         20  plan.

         21                 Martin Luther King stated that to

         22  deny a person the right to make a living is to deny

         23  her or him the right to exist. It is our right to

         24  work and live as human beings, and not to be rounded

         25  up as cattle, that is over.  We are fighting for our
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          2  lives.

          3                 This serious matter leaves me only

          4  with the conclusion that the tax money that I pay is

          5  to my demise, leaving the quality of life only for a

          6  chosen few.  In this unfair, if this unfair, unjust

          7  treatment is in fact the case, I highly suggest that

          8  those with the power to confront this situation do

          9  so with the reality and understanding of fairness to

         10  all people or step down and be replaced with

         11  thinking concerned people who have the best interest

         12  of all at heart.  We go to meetings, we try to help

         13  the police, we help people on the streets, we care

         14  about and are a part of the community where we work.

         15    We have become friends with the people, including

         16  business owners.  Let's, please, not insist on

         17  having a war here at home.

         18                 I also want to thank you for your

         19  time, I respect what you are trying to do, I really

         20  do.  I also want to have, just like she was saying,

         21  instead of fingerprinting, why don't we have

         22  pictures on our IDs, certain things that are

         23  necessary to show.  I do not want to be

         24  fingerprinted like a criminal.  And why can't we

         25  open up more streets.  All the streets and you talk
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          2  about so many vendors, you have a lot of streets

          3  here that would bring a lot of business to some of

          4  the stores, where people are afraid or do not know

          5  to go down certain streets.

          6                 And the last thing, no, I will save

          7  that one.  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Ms. Piazza, thank

          9  you.  We are going to hear next from the, stay

         10  there, I have question or two, but the disabled

         11  community that is represented, Mr. Kushner, Mr.

         12  Jackson, and Mr. Pitteker, are any of those people

         13  here?  Anybody from the disabled veterans here that

         14  signed up to testify?  Okay, well, that solves that.

         15                 Ms. Piazza, you - -  What is your

         16  name, Sir?

         17                 MR. CHOUDHURY:  Badr Choudhury.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay, well I am

         19  not sure we have a form here, but we will, fine, do

         20  not be angry with us, we will find it.  Did you sign

         21  a piece of paper?  You did.  Well, okay, let me ask

         22  a question first.

         23                 You said you should be able to do

         24  your work anywhere you want, Sean, hold him right

         25  there though, and, but you started out, at least,
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          2  Ms. Jackson started out by saying that you are only

          3  on three blocks.  You said you were on three

          4  different streets.            MS. HASSENGER:  That

          5  is what I said.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay, but you are

          7  not a part of this, the rest of, you are not with

          8  this Creative Vendors Alliance?

          9                 MS. HASSENGER:  We represent vendors

         10  that are on those streets.

         11                 MS. PIAZZA:  Yes, I am on that

         12  street, yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  There is a bit of

         14  a contradiction here, because, at least it seems to

         15  me, that the City is talking about trying to sort of

         16  control how many vendors are in any one place.  You

         17  are saying that you have a right to be on a street,

         18  the City is trying to say, well, we sort of have to

         19  control how many are on any given street.  Because I

         20  think part of the problem, and I think we would all

         21  be foolish and lying to each other, there are some

         22  streets that nobody wants to vend on, because they

         23  do not think they can make any money, probably a

         24  smart decision.

         25                 But there are problems when you have
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          2  15 people stacked up on one street.  So I think that

          3  is what we are trying to resolve, and find what is

          4  equitable about all of the business concerns.

          5                 And finally, I think, well, I

          6  understand people, the terms fingerprinting is

          7  alarming to many people, particularly in one of the

          8  non- white community, that has happened all too

          9  often. But what has been suggested and is the

         10  concern that people who are illegally vending,

         11  usually selling goods that are stolen,  are being

         12  given summonses by the police, and they are then

         13  going through the court, but they are not being

         14  fingerprinted.  And so therefore, they repeat

         15  themselves through court and there is no record of

         16  that.  And why I do not believe that I heard about

         17  fingerprinting vendors, per se, as in identification

         18  form.  So just from, at least, what I heard, maybe I

         19  did not hear it all, but that is what I heard.

         20                 MS. CURRY:  We are considered illegal

         21    vendors, so is the child who sells lemonade on the

         22  street.  They are talking about fingerprinting

         23  illegal vendors.  So they are talking about

         24  fingerprinting us, and they are talking about

         25  fingerprinting the child who sells lemonade on the
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          2  street.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I see, okay, well

          4  thank you very much for your testimony.  And if you

          5  have written ideas and proposals and you want to

          6  forward them to us, we will look forward to it.  As

          7  I said before to everybody, we are having a second

          8  hearing on May 1st, to look at where do we go next?

          9  Thank you all very much.

         10                 The last panel for the day is going

         11  to be, well the people that signed up, I think, is

         12  there a Lydia Lopez?  Ms. Lopez, and then there is a

         13  Lydia Cyages (phonetic), right, didn't I do pretty

         14  good with that name?  And then there is the

         15  Chinatown Street Vendors Association, and then there

         16  is a Length Weathers, is Len Weathers here?  Okay,

         17  who are the other folks you got there, Sean? Why

         18  don't you have them just sit behind them, okay?  All

         19  right, come sit on the Chair right there.  And why

         20  don't you take the microphone, Sir, and start.  And

         21  yes, tell me what is on your mind. And I am going to

         22  make sure, by the way, because I think - -

         23                 MR. CHOUDHURY:  Mr. Chairman, ladies

         24  and gentlemen, my name is Badr Choudhury.  I applied

         25  for the General Vendors License in 1991 and I
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          2  received a letter from the Department of Consumer

          3  Affairs in the same year stating that even waiting

          4  list was closed until further notice.  Since then, I

          5  have visited the office of Consumer Affairs many

          6  times with no success.  I even approached Council

          7  Member Alan Gerson.  Nothing helped me in getting a

          8  license for the last 13 years.

          9                 Is there anyone who could, please,

         10  help me in getting a General Vendors License?

         11                 Thank you so much for listening to my

         12  problem.

         13                 Badr Choudhury, telephone number 718-

         14  636- 3082.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you for your

         16  patience, Sir. I have asked my staff, Sir, sit right

         17  there.  Someone will come and take that from you.

         18  Okay, thank you.  Mr. Choudhury, I have asked our

         19  staff to meet, speak with someone in the back who is

         20  from the Department of Consumer Affairs, Sir?  No,

         21  just listen, could you listen to me?  I am asking a

         22  senior person from the Department of Consumer

         23  Affairs today, right now, to take your concerns and

         24  try to address them for you and come to some

         25  conclusion.  When you came to my office with it, we
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          2  did investigate it, the responses that I was getting

          3  from the Police Department and DCA, the Department

          4  of Consumer Affairs was that you were incorrect and

          5  there were many concerns that had surfaced through

          6  that.  But so to get you to make, feel comfortable,

          7  if you step in the back, someone will try to

          8  accommodate you and answer those questions today.

          9  Okay?  Thank you.

         10                 Hello, how is everybody?

         11                 MR. CHIN:  (In Chinese)

         12                 TRANSLATOR:   Dear City Council

         13  members and all community and vendor

         14  representatives, how are you?  I am a representative

         15  of The Chinatown Vendors Association.  On behalf of

         16  all the Chinatown Vendors, I present the following

         17  testimony.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I am sorry, just a

         19  minute, they need somebody's name.

         20                 MR. CHIN:  Sa Wei Chin, sorry.

         21                 TRANSLATOR:  My name is Sa Wei Chin.

         22                 MR. CHIN:  (In Chinese).

         23                 TRANSLATOR:  First, Chinatown's

         24  economy has declined since 9/11, especially in the

         25  industries of garment, tourism and restaurant, which
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          2  are the main backbone behind Chinatown's economy.

          3  Now these three industries are in crisis, and this

          4  has a severe economic impact on all Chinatown and

          5  nearby residents.

          6                 In addition, the war in Iraq and the

          7  hysteria around SARS, Chinatown's economy is even

          8  worse.

          9                 MR. CHIN:  (In Chinese).

         10                 TRANSLATOR:  Second, Chinatown

         11  Vendors are a unique part of Chinatown's economy.

         12  We bring back life to the economy during the

         13  recession.  Tourists love Chinatown vendors because

         14  we provide a valuable and convenient service, and

         15  tourists can buy good products at a good price.

         16                 MR. CHIN: (In Chinese).

         17                 TRANSLATOR:  Third, Chinatown has the

         18  most concentration Asian population, and it is a

         19  place where non- Asians love to shop and visit.

         20                 Vendors should also have our own

         21  business spaces so that we can contribute

         22  economically to our own community.

         23                 MR. CHIN:  (In Chinese).

         24                 TRANSLATOR:  Fourth, City officials

         25  should provide more spaces for vendors to develop

                                                            125

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  economically.  Specifically, in Chinatown we suggest

          3  the reopening of the Canal and Baxter Triangle to

          4  vendors, and closing traffic on Walker Street to

          5  provide more spaces for people to vend.

          6                 MR. CHIN: (In Chinese).

          7                 TRANSLATOR:  Fifth, the City has

          8  imposed strict laws on vendors.  For instance, our

          9  vending spots must be 20 feet away from all store

         10  entrances.  Chinatown has a history of more than 100

         11  years, which means there are a lot of stores in

         12  Chinatown.  It is impossible to find in Chinatown a

         13  spot that is 20 feet away from all store entrances.

         14  The 20 feet law has also existed for 100 years, all

         15  these things must change and progress with time.

         16  Therefore, all the outdated rules must also change

         17  for vendors to survive.

         18                 We call for the elimination of the 20

         19  feet law.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.  Sir,

         21  you are going to have to get him to wrap up.  We

         22  have been generous with the two minutes.

         23                 TRANSLATOR:  Yes, Sir, we are almost

         24  finished.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So let's get
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          2  wrapped up.  This is the last statement that he is

          3  going to make.

          4                 TRANSLATOR:  Yes, Sir.

          5                 MR. CHIN:  (In Chinese).

          6                 TRANSLATOR:  Sixth, the sidewalks in

          7  Chinatown are too narrow for vendors and for public

          8  safety.  The City must widen the sidewalks in

          9  Chinatown.

         10                 Chinatown vendors are united around

         11  these six points, we hope the City Council will

         12  receive our suggestions seriously.  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

         14  much.  Wait, no, wait.  Have you had a chance to

         15  talk informally with the Consumer Affairs about

         16  these suggestions, or have you had a chance to

         17  submit those suggestions?

         18                 MR. CHIN:  Yes.

         19                 TRANSLATOR:  Yes, he has had that

         20  opportunity.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And have they

         22  responded to you?

         23                 MR. CHIN:  (In Chinese).

         24                 TRANSLATOR:  He is not aware of any

         25  response from the Consumer Affairs.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Do you have those

          3  recommendations in a form that you can give them to

          4  us in the Committee?

          5                 TRANSLATOR:  We can submit them to

          6  you, Sir.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Please do that.

          8  And we will make sure that they get forwarded on and

          9  responded to.

         10                 TRANSLATOR:  Thank you, Chairman.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Some of them are

         12  excellent suggestions.  Thank you very much for your

         13  testimony.

         14                 MS. VEAGUEZ:  (In Spanish).

         15                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  Good afternoon.

         16  My name is Julio Veaguez from the Association of

         17  Mobile Street Vendors of El Barrio.

         18                 MS. VEAGUEZ:  (In Spanish).

         19                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  The reason I am

         20  here in front of you today is in hopes that you can

         21  find a solution to our problem.

         22                 MS. VEAGUEZ:  (In Spanish).

         23                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  We ask for you

         24  to please help us bring and end to the abuse and

         25  arbitrariness of the police in our neighborhood.
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          2                 MS. VEAGUEZ:  (In Spanish).

          3                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  In my group of

          4  vendors we have senior citizens, pregnant women, and

          5  young women, all who have not been respected by the

          6  police.

          7                 MS. VEAGUEZ:  (In Spanish).

          8                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  We are asking to

          9  be afforded the Mobile Street Vending License so

         10  that we can continue paying our taxes.

         11                 MS. VEAGUEZ:  (In Spanish).

         12                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  We want an end

         13  to the abuse, no more arrest, and no more aggression

         14  on the part of the police against us.  And that is

         15  all.

         16                 MS. VEAGUEZ:  (In Spanish).

         17                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.

         19                 MS. LOPEZ:  (In Spanish).

         20                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  My name is Lydia

         21  Lopez.  I am from the Latin American Workers Project

         22  Street Vending Committee.

         23                 MS. LOPEZ:  (In Spanish).

         24                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  I came here

         25  today because I want the police to start respecting
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          2  our dignity, we want to bring an end to the racial

          3  discrimination, threats and intimidation

          4  mistreatment that we suffered.

          5                 MS. LOPEZ:  (In Spanish).

          6                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  We have been

          7  discriminated against because we do not speak

          8  English by the police, and we have been victims of

          9  sexual harassment on the part of the police.

         10                 MS. LOPEZ:  (In Spanish).

         11                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  We are asking

         12  the Police Department to please recognize the

         13  identification we provide, and also we want them to

         14  no longer destroy our products.

         15                 MS. LOPEZ:  (In Spanish).

         16                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  We want

         17  protection on the part of the police.  Until now, we

         18  are unprotected, instead, we are seeing like

         19  delinquents, drug addicts, or thieves.

         20                 MS. LOPEZ:  (In Spanish).

         21                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  When all we are,

         22  is a group of workers on the street, we are trying

         23  to survive and support our family and our children.

         24                 MS. LOPEZ:  (In Spanish).

         25                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  Because of the
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          2  unfortunate events of September 11th, our

          3  neighborhood has lost a lot of its economy,

          4  factories, and the economy has dropped considerably.

          5                 MS. LOPEZ:  (In Spanish).

          6                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  And on top of

          7  the economic impact, we also affected directly by

          8  injustice on the part of the police.  For this

          9  reason, we are asking for justice, dignity, and

         10  peace.

         11                 MS. LOPEZ:  (In Spanish).

         12                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  For this reason

         13  we are asking as a solution that please find a way

         14  to get us licenses, because right now they do not

         15  give enough licenses.

         16                 MS. LOPEZ:  (In Spanish).

         17                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  The City could

         18  be receiving thousands of dollars for these

         19  licenses, but they will not give them to us.  And we

         20  cannot contribute to the City properly; we want

         21  permission to pay taxes through the system.

         22                 MS. LOPEZ:  (In Spanish).

         23                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  We want to work

         24  in accordance with the law, we want to make our

         25  sales in the correct manner.
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          2                 MS. LOPEZ:  (In Spanish).

          3                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  In a way that we

          4  can help each other reciprocally is that you can

          5  help us obtain licenses as mobile vendors.

          6                 MS. LOPEZ:  (In Spanish).

          7                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  In this way, we

          8  would be able to contribute, we would pay taxes, we

          9  would help the city, and we would help with economic

         10  development.

         11                 MS. LOPEZ:  (In Spanish).

         12                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  We are aware and

         13  conscientious of the fact that we have to pay for

         14  licenses, and we have to pay taxes.  But if all of

         15  you and the laws that control actions in this City

         16  do not allow us to work in a legal manner.

         17                 MS. LOPEZ:  (In Spanish).

         18                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  The economic

         19  development will stay the same or decrease over

         20  time.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Myra?

         22                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  Last thing.

         23                 MS. LOPEZ:  (In Spanish).

         24                 MS. PETERS CONTERO:  We are asking,

         25  you can assign us spots where we would be allowed to
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          2  sell in an orderly fashion. We could have a flea

          3  market, or other areas where we would not have to

          4  run from the police like robbers and thieves, and we

          5  would not be detained by the police.

          6                 MS. LOPEZ:  Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you all very

          8  much.  Do I pronounce you name, Sir, Mr. Zhao, is

          9  that close?  And are there representatives, are

         10  there people with you here today?

         11                 MR. ZHAO:  Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Why don't you ask

         13  them to stand up?

         14                 MR. ZHAO:  (In Chinese).

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Welcome.  And are

         16  there people with both you, Ms. Veaguez, what block

         17  do you represent, Ms. Veaguez?

         18                 MS. VEAGUEZ:  El Barrio.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  El Barrio, like in

         20  the neighborhood I represent, 116th Street.

         21                 MS. VEAGUEZ:  Yes.

         22  CHAIRPERSON REED:  I see, okay.  Are there folks

         23  upstairs that are with you?

         24                 MS. VEAGUEZ:  Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Did you bring a
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          2  posse with you, too?

          3                 MS. VEAGUEZ:  Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  You can translate

          5  that for me.

          6                 MS. VEAGUEZ:  (In Spanish).

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well thank you all

          8  very much for coming.  I know we have to cut short

          9  this hearing, but it was not short, as you can see,

         10  that is the reason why we have scheduled a continued

         11  hearing on May 1st.  My colleague, Margarita Lopez

         12  is about to come in and have a conversation about

         13  something else.

         14                 I very much appreciate, this is our

         15  first step.  We are not finished yet.  I very much

         16  appreciate your time; this is a first step.  There

         17  are several steps in this.  My sense is that all

         18  sides want to come up with a solution.  Everybody

         19  agrees it is not working.  So let's stay together on

         20  this, and stay vigilant.  It is critically

         21  important, as I said before, that you speak to your

         22  local representatives, and bring your positive

         23  solutions to their attention and to this Committee.

         24  And if you are a voter, make sure they know that

         25  too.
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          2                 Thank you all very much for coming.

          3  This hearing is adjourned.

          4                 (Hearing was adjourned at 1:10 p.m.)

          5                 (The following testimony was read

          6  into the record.)

          7

          8  Testimony of:

          9  Robert Walsh

         10  Commissioner

         11  NYC Department of Small Business Services

         12

         13                 The following information is provided

         14  to the Consumer Affairs Committee concerning the New

         15  York City Street Vendor Review Panel.  The Panel,

         16  created by Local Law 14 of 1995, has authority to

         17  promulgate rules to prohibit any vending on a street

         18  after making a determination that such stretcher is

         19  regularly too congested by pedestrian or vehicular

         20  traffic to permit the operation of the vending

         21  business.  The Panel is chaired by the Commissioner

         22  of the Department of Small Business Services (SBS).

         23  Additional Panel members are the Commissioner of the

         24  Department of Transportation, the Director of the

         25  Department of City Planning and a fourth member
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          2  nominated by the Speaker of the Council and

          3  appointed by the Mayor.  The last nominee appointed

          4  to the Panel was former Council Member Noach Dear.

          5                 The Panel is an administrative body

          6  that follows the rule- making provisions of the City

          7  Administrative Procedure Act, (CAPA).  Petitioners

          8  for rule making are submitted and considered by the

          9  Panel.  If approved, a public hearing is scheduled

         10  to receive oral testimony and written comments on

         11  proposed rules. Following consideration of evidence

         12  and testimony received the Panel votes on final

         13  rules that can result in restrictions on street

         14  vending or the opening of streets to vending.

         15                 A lawsuit enjoined the Panel's work

         16  following its first round of rule making in 1996.

         17  After final resolution of the litigation by the New

         18  York Court of Appeals in 1998, the Panel resumed,

         19  conducting two rounds of rule making, which resulted

         20  in the promulgation of final rules in 1999 and 2000.

         21    A third round was underway in 2001, with a hearing

         22  planned in the fall.  The events of 9/11 postponed

         23  the hearing until after the new administration took

         24  office.

         25                 It was determined that a
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          2  comprehensive review of City street vending

          3  regulations was warranted and that the structure of

          4  the Panel did not present an efficient or effective

          5  way to address the overall issues regarding vending.

          6    First, the Panel operates on a piecemeal approach,

          7  addressing only streets for which petitions are

          8  submitted.  Often, this means streets are reviewed

          9  in isolation, without regard to the impact new rules

         10  will have on surrounding streets.  These actions are

         11  taken on a map that already has widely divergent

         12  rules for general vending and food vending and even

         13  varying days and times for each type of vending. The

         14  result is a wide array of rules that are difficult

         15  for vendors, enforcement entities, and the public to

         16  understand.

         17                 Given the administration's intent to

         18  address vending regulation in a comprehensive way,

         19  agency efforts were devoted to that purpose.  SBS

         20  staff has been working with the Department of

         21  Consumer Affairs, the Criminal Justice Coordinator,

         22  the Health Department, and the Law Department, among

         23  others, to develop a comprehensive and effective

         24  means of regulating vending.

         25                 Should you require any additional
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          2  information, please contact me.

          3

          4  Testimony of:

          5  Peter A. Davis

          6  Leigh Behnke

          7  Linda Mevorach

          8

          9                 In reference to the vendor situation

         10  on the West Side of Broadway between Prince and

         11  Spring Streets.  Our block of 11 buildings, on an

         12  average weekend has approximately 35 to 55 vendors.

         13  Weekdays have numbers of 10 progressing to 30 as the

         14  weekdays end.  Rain does seem to curtail some of the

         15  vendors, but those without stay turn this block into

         16  a pile of plastic covered boxes connected to their

         17  vans, parking on the block for most of the day.

         18  When it is cold and evening starts, generators for

         19  lighting and heaters magically appear.  Any

         20  governing rules put in place by our City is

         21  completely ignored.  There have been turf wars over

         22  our public streets, whistles and cell phones

         23  government who get what spot on the block just to

         24  sell counterfeit and illegal goods.  This shanty

         25  town sight has dragged down our preciously property
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          2  value and is bringing in some very bad crime,

          3  pickpockets and three card monty.

          4                 We have tried the police, but the

          5  vendors just wait for our boys in plain clothes or

          6  uniform to leave so they can set up again with or

          7  without a legal permit.  It seems that the Police on

          8  the East Side of Broadway have effectively cut the

          9  vendor situation, while the West Side of Broadway is

         10  and has always been a hotbed of action for vendors.

         11  As summer approaches, I know this street situation

         12  will only escalate into a vendor free- for- all.

         13                 I have used a list of contacts for a

         14  long paper trail and sent serious photos to the

         15  Police, City Officials, Community Board #2, also 43

         16  Vendors Free Zone petitions were sent to Walter

         17  Maxwell at the Vendors Review Panel, et cetera.  I

         18  have not seen any real effort to remove this problem

         19  from growing.  Has the City and 1st Precinct adopted

         20  a eyes closed policy towards vendors?

         21                 Reality, what can be done to

         22  alleviate this totally out of control situation?

         23                 Thank you for your time.

         24

         25  Testimony of:
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          2  Robert Lederman

          3  President

          4  Artist Response to Illegal State Tactics

          5

          6                 The New York City agencies, Business

          7  Improvement Districts, corporations and landlord

          8  advocacy groups who have been trying unsuccessfully

          9  for many decades to get rid of the vendors and

         10  street artists are about to launch a full frontal

         11  assault on vending.  This first steel will be hidden

         12  inside a velvet glove.

         13                 Unlike the heavy- handed efforts of

         14  Mayor Giuliani, who made his hostility to vendors

         15  and street artists very clear, yet failed to have

         16  any effect on us despite an intense eight year

         17  effort, those behind this new push to eliminate

         18  vendors will try very hard to convince you they are

         19  your new best friend.  They want you to believe that

         20  they only want to help you; that they are trying to

         21  improve vending so as to make it easier for you to

         22  get a vending spot; and that they want to eliminate

         23  only the illegal vendors so its to make more room on

         24  the street and in Parks for legitimate vendors and

         25  for original street artists.
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          2                 Do not believe it,.  There are at

          3  least six incredibly unfair and punishing new laws

          4  being proposed before the City Council and the New

          5  York State Legislature concerning vending. These

          6  include:

          7                 Intro #160, which tries to reinstate

          8  a permit requirement for artists that was previously

          9  overturned by six different courts;

         10                 A proposal to require fingerprinting

         11  for all vendors.

         12                 A proposal to make three misdemeanor

         13  convictions within ten years the basis for an

         14  automatic felony conviction and a one- year prison

         15  sentence (most Park vending violations and many

         16  street vending violations are misdemeanors).

         17                 A requirement that all misdemeanor

         18  arrest will require the defendant to submit to

         19  having a DNA sample taken.

         20                 A restriction on the allowable

         21  content of First Amendment- protected vending

         22  materials starting with pornography.

         23                 And a proposed new law allowing the

         24  City to completely restrict vending from certain

         25  street simply because some people find it to be
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          2  offensive there.  This last proposed law would

          3  create an entirely new and arbitrary precedent for

          4  banning vending based on something other than a

          5  concern for public safety.  The area surrounding the

          6  World Trade Center is the first of what we can

          7  expect will be many such newly restricted areas if

          8  this law is passed.

          9                 I have been selling on the street for

         10  more than 40 years.  Every vendors I have ever met

         11  has their own concept about what the problem with

         12  vending is and how to deal with it.  It is not that

         13  some of these views are absolutely right and all

         14  others absolutely wrong.  The main difference

         15  between these varied viewpoints involves how big a

         16  picture is being looked at.  If a vendor is focused

         17  on only the small piece of sidewalk where they sell,

         18  it is easy to see other nearby vendors who compete

         19  with them for sales and vending as the main problem.

         20    If a vendors is focused just on the neighborhood

         21  where they sell, they may see a slightly bigger

         22  picture involving landlord advocacy groups, the

         23  local BID or the local police precinct.  Such

         24  vendors often believe that if we street artists and

         25  vendors can just accommodate the demands of local
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          2  stores, residents and landlords, however, arbitrary

          3  and irrational they may be that everything will be

          4  okay.

          5                 If only the solution were that

          6  simple.  There is a bigger picture worth looking at.

          7    My focus is not just protecting my vending spot,

          8  or begging vendors and artists to keep things quiet

          9  and tidy in the neighborhood where I sell so that we

         10  will not be targeted for enforcement.  Nor is my

         11  focus on desperately trying to get the local police,

         12  landlords, and stores to like me or my fellow street

         13  artists.  First Amendment rights are not dependent

         14  on being liked or welcomed by the community.  In

         15  fact, the entire purpose of free speech is to

         16  protect unpopular views.  What the community thinks

         17  about us ultimately has nothing to do with our

         18  rights.  Even though I am a street artist who only

         19  sells his own original art and could well play the

         20  game of claiming to be special or better than some

         21  other vendors as is now fashionable in some

         22  quarters, I choose to see all other vendors as being

         23  in the same boat as me whether they are artists, art

         24  vendors, disabled vets, veterans, general vendors,

         25  food vendors, book vendors or yes, even so- called
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          2  unlicensed illegal vendors.

          3                 For more than 35 years I was

          4  classified by the City as so- called illegal vendors

          5  and was routinely arrested for it.  In 1996 a

          6  Federal Court issued a ruling acknowledging that

          7  street artists did not need a license or a permit, a

          8  fact which every single New York City official

          9  involved in ordering our arrests over the years

         10  already knew very well.  Those misguided artists and

         11  licensed vendors who today insist on scapegoating

         12  other vendors as if they were the real problem with

         13  vending should read a page or two from their own

         14  history.  Just a few years ago, we were the illegal

         15  vendors.

         16                 The reality is that the government

         17  officials creating this latest crisis for vendors

         18  care no more for original artists than for art

         19  vendors.  They abuse licensed vendors as readily an

         20  unlicensed ones.  They have no more concern for the

         21  rights of disabled veteran vendors than they do for

         22  the Senegalese vendors of counterfeit merchandise.

         23  They love to play the disabled vets against each

         24  other.  Our collective boat will either sink and we

         25  will also drown together or we can pull together and
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          2  save ourselves, each other and vending itself.  The

          3  City sees it that way as well, but that is exactly

          4  the opposite of what they will tell you.  Their

          5  updated strategy is a classic, divide and conquer.

          6  The idea is to play off artist- stooges who work for

          7  an anti- vendor. City Council member against real

          8  street artists who stood up for their rights.  To

          9  play licensed vendors against unlicensed vendors

         10  whose only crime is not having a license, which by

         11  design is unobtainable.  Right now in Albany, they

         12  are busy playing disabled vets against all First

         13  Amendment- protected vendors, demanding that the

         14  vets agree to limit artists and book vendors to only

         15  one per block.  They know no shame as they play this

         16  game of vendor extermination.

         17                 These City officials like to set up

         18  private meetings for carefully selected vendors,

         19  pretending that they are open to hearing your input

         20  and want to help you with your problems.  In reality

         21  all they want is for youth to complain bitterly

         22  about other vendors, to inform on each other and to

         23  depicted your fellow vendors and street artists in

         24  the worst light possible.  That way they can use

         25  your testimony as proof that vendors are people, who
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          2  for the sake of society must be rigidly controlled,

          3  regulated and phased out for existence.  In these

          4  meetings, they flatter each group of vendors about

          5  how special they are and make promises of reserved

          6  vending spaces, protection from competition and

          7  other absurdities, none of which they could keep if

          8  they wanted to.

          9                 For me the issue is not other

         10  vendors, nor is it any of the phony justifications

         11  that have been used against us for so many years.

         12  The problem with vending is not primarily about

         13  congestion, or public safety, or unfair competition

         14  or copyright infringement.  It is about nothing less

         15  than a brutal struggle over territory, public

         16  territory.  The struggle we face is a war, a war

         17  which have been waged for decades by corporate

         18  interests to determine who will control the public

         19  spaces of this great City. These sidewalks and Parks

         20  are the most valuable real estate in New York City.

         21  The ultimate key for them to fully seize control of

         22  those public spaces is to weaken the rights of the

         23  First Amendment protected vendors; those vendors who

         24  have a Constitutional right to use sidewalks and

         25  public parks for communication, commerce and
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          2  expression without needing a license, a permit or

          3  anyone's permission.  Those rights are ultimately

          4  not subjective the to the effects of corruptly

          5  written legislation, quid procedure quos in exchange

          6  for City Council votes or the perjured testimony of

          7  City officials who allegiance is to the corporations

          8  which put them in office rather than the voting

          9  public.

         10                 Robert Loutitt is the public safety

         11  director of the Fifth Avenue BID.  Year ago he was

         12  the very first commanding officer of the NYPD

         13  Peddler Task Force, created by Mayor Koch.  He is an

         14  authority on this issue.  Mr. Loutitt explained the

         15  reality of our struggle to me in 1994, moments

         16  before supervising my arrest in front of Trump Tower

         17  for the third time in three days.  "Once we can get

         18  rid of the First Amendment- protected vendors," he

         19  explained, "we can get rid of all the vendors."

         20  That was a valuable insight and I have never

         21  forgotten it, or failed to thank Mr. Loutitt for

         22  sharing it with me.

         23                 Since 1994 when Giuliani became

         24  Mayor, City officials have dreamed of selling off

         25  the public sidewalks and Parks of the City to the
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          2  highest bidder.  On the streets, this privatization

          3  program is known as The Street Furniture Initiative.

          4  It involves a multi- billion dollar contract for the

          5  advertising rights on thousands of New York City

          6  sidewalk kiosks, benches, bus shelters, pay toilets

          7  and sidewalk advertising billboards.  But there is a

          8  big problem in implementing this initiative.  Your

          9  little art display is an obstacle for this contract

         10  to go through. How can the City sell off the right

         11  to use public space to a right wing corporation like

         12  Clear Channel Communications for billions, when you

         13  can sell in the exact same spot for free:  It is no

         14  coincidence that at the same time Mayor Bloomberg

         15  proposed Intro. #160 her revived the Street

         16  Furniture Initiative. (For details see The Village

         17  Voice "Pro- War Media Conglomerate Tries to Take

         18  Over New York;" Bush's Voice of American by Wayne

         19  Barrett, April 2- 8, 2003).

         20                 In Parks, this exact same agenda has

         21  long been manifested by their concession program.

         22  The Parks Department has spent many years selling

         23  the right to public space to the highest bidder as

         24  even a casual examination of their concession and

         25  special event permit program make clear.  A single
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          2  vending stand concession in a New York City park

          3  already sells for as much as $750,000.  The parks

          4  Department sells large vending companies a monopoly

          5  on vending within each Park with the public paying

          6  the price in highly inflated prices, poor quality

          7  food, and an artificially limited selection of

          8  third- rate tourist- oriented merchandise.  Parks

          9  Commissioner Benepe started his career as one of

         10  these Parks Department food concessionaires.  His

         11  fondness for and comfort with this corruption system

         12  is perfectly understandable.

         13                 Special event permit fees, like the

         14  one the Central Park Conservancy recently pressured

         15  Christo to "donate" $3,00,000 for are the rule

         16  rather than the exception.  For Sony, Nike, or Chase

         17  Bank, David Rockefeller's Bank, which virtually own

         18  Central park and uses it as its playground, a

         19  $3,000,000 permit fee is a profitable tax write off

         20  and much cheaper than a TV commercial. Plus, they

         21  get to pretend that they are good citizens who are

         22   "helping our public Parks."  There is no New York

         23  City agency with a better documented history of

         24  censorship, shakedowns, racism, and corruption than

         25  the Parks Department.  In light of this larger
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          2  picture, only the most gullible street artist can

          3  seriously believe that all Commissioner Benepe wants

          4  form you is a $25 permit and proof that you made

          5  your art as he has recently been suggesting.

          6                 In my experience there is not much

          7  you can believe from most of the New York City

          8  officials involved in the vending issue, even when

          9  what they symptoms seems perfectly reasonable on the

         10  surface.  If one does the research as I have, you

         11  will see for example that raising money for the

         12  Parks budget has little or nothing to do with Intro.

         13  #160 or their concession system.  Most of the

         14  hundreds of millions of dollars the Parks Department

         15  took in from concessions and special permits sold to

         16  Disney, Sony, Chase Banks and other giant

         17  corporation during the eight years Giuliani was

         18  Mayor went to two groups; The Central Park

         19  Conservancy (CPC) an elite club consisting of the

         20  City's wealthiest real estate magnates; and the

         21  Public- Private Initiative, a transparently phone

         22  charity set up to funnel millions of dollars to

         23  Giuliani's political campaigns and pet projects.

         24                 Ironically, these two groups are in

         25  many respects virtually identical.  The Central Park
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          2  Conservancy's president is Regina Perrugi,

          3  Giuliani's first wife.  The board of director of the

          4  CPC is a who's who of Giuliani's former Deputy

          5  Mayors, his former chief of staff, his aides, his

          6  press agent, a former mistress and his wealthiest

          7  campaign contributors from the real estate sector.

          8  These same real estate big shots were the personal

          9  beneficiaries of billions of dollar in undeserved

         10  tax write- offs granted to them by Giuliani when he

         11  was Mayor.  A large part of why the City is now

         12  broke was these same corruptly motivated tax write

         13  offs.  Sad to say, Mike Bloomberg has long been one

         14  of the key board members of the Central Park

         15  Conservancy.

         16                 To win this fight we must identify

         17  study and fully understand our enemy.  If we allow

         18  ourselves to see only the smallest picture and

         19  insist on narrowly focusing our attention solely on

         20  the vendors next to us, imagining him or her to be

         21  our worst enemy, we are surely lost.  If on the

         22  other hand we can muster the courage to understand

         23  and face who and what we are really up against we

         24  can chose to study their weaknesses exactly as they

         25  are so intently studying ours.  Can we win this
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          2  fight?  It is true that we cannot hope to match such

          3  an enemy as ours in the arenas of money, influence,

          4  or power.  However, there is one renal in which we

          5  can not only match them, but can actually beat them

          6  if we use our resources properly.  The resource we

          7  can exploit to beat this enemy is as close as your

          8  art display or vending stand.  It is the very right

          9  to free speech they are trying to buy from the City

         10  and take away from us.

         11                 A cardboard sign, a leaflet alerting

         12  the public to what is really going on or a petition

         13  for a passerby to sign can be our means to victory.

         14   "The pen is mightier than the sword" and "A picture

         15  is worth a thousand words."  How many times have we

         16  read those cliches without ever considering the

         17  power of their message and what they mean in the

         18  context of our vending struggle?  This power is

         19  already in your hands if only you can open your eyes

         20  to see it.  Companies like Clear Channel

         21  Communications want your vending spot because they

         22  know that from your little 8' X 3' X 5' sidewalk

         23  stand you can deliver a message to the entire world.

         24    Why not reach it with a message other than just,

         25  buy my art, or buy my merchandise?
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          2                 See the bigger picture.  Know your

          3  enemy.  Fight the power.  Whatever you do, do not

          4  waste your time or do the enemies work by fighting

          5  each other.  That is exactly what they want you to

          6  be doing.  If you imagination can open up to the

          7  possibility of victory rather than be crushed by the

          8  sense of an imminent defeat, know that our success

          9  will be a victory for every person in America who

         10  may ever wanted torn need the right to free speech

         11  on public property.

         12                 Be proud to be a vendors.  Be proud

         13  to be a defender of the rights that make this nation

         14  unique in also human history. Be proud to be a

         15  street artist.  Artist Power!

         16

         17  Testimony of:

         18  Nancy Ploeger

         19  President

         20  Manhattan Chamber of Commerce

         21

         22                 The Manhattan Chamber of Commerce

         23  represents the small business community in Manhattan

         24  and, as such, has a great concern about the street

         25  vendor issue.  Many of our members and small

                                                            153

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  business owners in the City have complained to us

          3  about the proliferation of vendors on their blocks

          4  in front of their stores and in front of subway

          5  entrances and exits.

          6                 We are concerned for the following

          7  reasons:

          8                 The current laws do not protect a

          9  community and block from the dangerous situations

         10  created by overcrowded sidewalks blocked by vendors.

         11    Oftentimes, the vendors will set up their booth

         12  and then put a chair on the sidewalk directly in

         13  front of their carts, crating a very narrow passage

         14  for pedestrians. This is dangerous in neighborhoods

         15  where elderly are trying to walk with canes and

         16  walkers and mothers are trying to push their baby

         17  carriages strollers.

         18                 Many vendors selling the small type

         19  of merchandise set up outside stores, hurting the

         20  small businessman's sales.

         21                 In addition, vendors will set up

         22  directly in front of a subway entrance/exit blocking

         23  the flow of passengers from the subways, creating

         24  dangerous situations.

         25                 Many vendors park their cars and vans
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          2  in the meters all day long, using them as storage

          3  rooms and taking up valuable parking spaces from

          4  store and restaurant patrons.  Patrons who have no

          5  place to park will no longer be patrons.

          6                 Vendors oftentimes leave boxes and

          7  trash behind them at the end of the day, forcing the

          8  area's clean- up crew (if you are lucky enough to

          9  have one) to dispose of the trash or the store owner

         10  who then has to bag and handle it at his own

         11  expense.

         12                 The increased number of vendors on

         13  any block gives it a feeling of a bazaar and

         14  decreases the neighborhood's ability to attract

         15  customers and even hurts residential sales.

         16                 We recommend the following:

         17                 The City must look at a street

         18  vendors the way they do any other small business:

         19  Charge a higher rent for using the City street space

         20  and imposed a sanitation fee on them.

         21                 Stricter control of vendors licenses-

         22  stiffer charges for the license itself.

         23                 When streets are restricted, there

         24  needs to be much better policing, i.e., 86th Street

         25  is supposedly restricted but there are wall to wall
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          2  vendors.

          3                 For food vendors, actual placement of

          4  them on City street and control so that you do not

          5  have four fruit vendors one on each corner.

          6                 Increase fines for illegal vendors.

          7                 Increase parking penalties on street

          8  vendors using parking spaces for their cars and vans

          9  on a scale: Fee for first time in the meter; x

         10  amount..fee for 2nd time at same meter, X&Y

         11  amount..fee for 3rd time at the same meter X&Y&Z and

         12  4th time, car/van towed.

         13                 Define the First Amendment right to

         14  not include baseball cards.

         15                 Exercise better control over

         16  veteran's licenses.

         17                 Please remember that the City is

         18  built on small businesses who provide the most jobs.

         19    Allowing the proliferation of vendors, hurts these

         20  business owners.  We also will reiterate the fact

         21  that most vendors do not pay taxes, do not pay rent,

         22  do not pay employees or workers comp.  We understand

         23  the spirit of entrepreneurship but should it be at

         24  the expense of the small business owner who not only

         25  pays into the City's coffers but also is responsible
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          2  for the majority of jobs in the City as well?

          3

          4

          5  Testimony of:

          6  William Daly

          7  Director of Public Services

          8  Fashion Center Business Improvement District

          9

         10                 I come before this Committee today

         11  not only in my current capacity with the Fashion

         12  Center BID. But also as the former Director of the

         13  Mayor's Office of Midtown Enforcement for 17 years.

         14                 During that time, the last three

         15  mayors for whom I worked took a variety of steps to

         16  deal with the vexing problems associate with street

         17  vending; however, no matter what attempts at

         18  regulation or enforcement were undertaken, the

         19  problems only continued to worsen.  And today, the

         20  situation has become unmanageable, though it is not

         21  for a lack of trying.  The various Borough and

         22  Precinct peddler task forces fielded by the NYPD

         23  make valiant attempts day in and day out, issuing

         24  summonses and arresting those vendors who violate

         25  existing regulations. Furthermore, panels convened
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          2  by the Mayor's Midtown Citizens Committee, the

          3  Midtown Community Court, Community Boards and

          4  Business Improvement Districts have worked with City

          5  agencies and advanced plans, suggestions and ideas

          6  to ameliorate congestion, to halt the burgeoning

          7  sales of counterfeit goods and to reclaim the

          8  streets and sidewalks of the City.

          9                 The time to find a solution is now.

         10  Now because illegal street vending has escalated the

         11  huge proportions not only here locally, but it has

         12  entered the realm of big business on an

         13  international level, with side- scale pirating of

         14  trademark items and suggestions of the involvement

         15  of organized crime and profits being used to support

         16  drug cartels and terrorist organizations. That is

         17  not to say that all street vendors are criminals or

         18  terrorists.  Not at all, for there are many, may

         19  vendors who do try to make an honest living on the

         20  streets.  It is, however, for them and for the

         21  citizens of the City who pay taxes and who deserve

         22  to live in a non- Hodgkin chaotic urban environment

         23  that a total reworking of the vendors regulations

         24  must be undertaken by the Administration and the

         25  City Council.
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          2                 I understand that this will not be an

          3  easy task since the current complicated, convoluted

          4  and practically unenforceable scheme was constructed

          5  partly as the result of a series of state and

          6  federal court decisions that has made it extremely

          7  difficult for the City to bring order to the vending

          8  situation.  Nevertheless, other cities do manage to

          9  control their vendors and our City is not short of

         10  legal brains or good managers who can contribute

         11  their ideas and skills to developing new ways of

         12  addressing the problem.  But first I think our

         13  government officials and representatives, both here

         14  and in Albany, have to agree that the problem does

         15  exist and has reached insupportable levels.  They

         16  must then muster the political will to overcome

         17  entrenched interests who will argue vociferously

         18  that nay changes in current laws are antipathetic to

         19  New York's tradition of sidewalk peddlers and the

         20  notion that this is the an entry level job for

         21  immigrants. I think we can all agree that peddling

         22  is a time- honored tradition here, but the itinerant

         23  pushcarts of old have, for the most part, been

         24  replaced by hawkers of items that are the product of

         25  international counterfeiters.
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          2                 How then to remedy the situation?  In

          3  starting anew, the controlling principles should be:

          4                 Fairness, so that vendors willing to

          5  comply with regulations are guaranteed an

          6  opportunity to make a living.

          7                 Simplicity, to provide regulations

          8  that are easily understood.

          9                 Enforceability, the regulations must

         10  lead to successful outcomes by those who enforced

         11  them.

         12                 Citywide, the new rule should be

         13  applicable in all commercial areas of the City since

         14  the problems are now in most areas.

         15                 Although I do not have anything more

         16  specific to offer at this time, I suggest that

         17  Intro. 110 of several years ago, the so- called BID

         18  manager's bill would be a good point of departure

         19  when considering a new approach.  In many ways, it

         20  did offer simpler and more easily enforceable method

         21  of regulating street vendors.

         22                 One particularly helpful addition

         23  would be to make violations of the vending laws a

         24  printable offense.  Those arrested for counterfeit

         25  trademark offenses are printed; however, there is

                                                            160

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  operating record available for judges to review for

          3  recidivists arrested for general vending.  Since

          4  many of those have been arrested dozens of times, an

          5  arrest record would permit the judges to be aware of

          6  the defendants' prior history.

          7                 I would also suggest that as an

          8  interim solution, support be given to the present

          9  attempt in Albany to extend the disabled veterans

         10  regulations that sunsetted last month.

         11

         12  Testimony of:

         13  Mitchell Balmuth

         14

         15                 First, I would like to let the

         16  Committee members know that vending is an old and

         17  honorable vocation.  All you vendors here should be

         18  proud that you are a vendors.  Vending in New York

         19  City has a long history dating back to colonial

         20  times. Before there were storefronts, vendors bought

         21  merchandise directly from the ships and went to the

         22  street and to homes selling their wares.  I am proud

         23  to say that when my grandfather came to this country

         24  in 1903 he was a pack peddler selling his wares

         25  door- to door.  As the country grew, these same pack
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          2  peddlers went from town- to- town bringing supplies

          3  to the rest of the country.  It was only after

          4  storefronts and main streets appeared did peddling

          5  become regulated and regulated and over regulated.

          6  In most cities and towns in this country peddling

          7  has been regulated out of business.  Peddlers became

          8  to be looked down by shopkeepers, businessmen, and

          9  landlords.  This eventually became a classic

         10  struggle between the haves and have- nots.

         11                 New York City has been trying to rid

         12  the City of street vendors since the mid 1800s by

         13  creating unjust and unconstitutional laws.

         14                 Thankfully, the rights of vendors in

         15  New York are recognized by common law and other

         16  statutes.  Many of these unjust laws that dealt with

         17  competition have been overturned by courts.  As a

         18  last resort, the enemies of vending have resorted to

         19  outright lies and bigotry.

         20                 Attached to my testimony is a Brief

         21  filed by the Yorkville Citizens Committee in 1916 to

         22  the Board of Alderman.  This was before political

         23  correctness, so these good citizens thought nothing

         24  of not only accusing vendors of being dirty but

         25  actually accuses the vendors of causing young girls
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          2  to disappear, causing young boys to steal, and

          3  selling cocaine from their stands.

          4                 These vendors were defended by the

          5  Hebrew Charities, as most vendors at that time were

          6  of Jewish descent.  Nowadays with the exception of a

          7  few people like former parks Commissioner Henry

          8  Stern who testified in front of the Parks Committee

          9  that the art vendors were a "Chinese Wall," a

         10   "Byzantine Labyrinth" and a "Middle Eastern Bazaar"

         11  our critics just use the word congestion. If you say

         12  a street is congested that gives our enemies the

         13  right to restrict or to limit the number of vendors

         14  on it.  This is as much a lie as the bigoted remarks

         15  of our former enemies.

         16                 These same lies about congestion is

         17  now being used to change another Consumer Affairs

         18  Law, Administrative Code Section 20- 473. This new

         19  law is directly aimed at art vendors and thus the

         20  First Amendment.

         21                 The City does not want this Consumer

         22  Affairs Law to go in front of this Committee because

         23  this Committee is too liberal.

         24                 I am asking the Chair of this

         25  Committee to ask that Intro. 160 be referred to
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          2  Consumer Affairs because the Parks Committee has too

          3  close of a relationship with Adrian Benepe who is so

          4  obsessed with passing Intro. 160 that he perjured

          5  himself concerning previous court rulings.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 1:10 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, PAT WTULICH, a Notary Public in

         10  and for the State of New York, do hereby certify

         11  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         12  of the within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 7th day of April 2003.
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                                   ---------------------

         24                          PAT WTULICH
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          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3
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          7

          8

          9            I, PAT WTULICH, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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